2019

ANNUAL
REPORT

2019

ANNUAL
REPORT

2019

ANNUAL
REPORT

CONTENTS
PART A:

PART B:

GENERAL INFORMATION................................... 6

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION......................22

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

1. AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVES................................................................. 22
2. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS.......................................... 22
2.1 Service delivery environment................................ 22
2.2 Organisational environment................................... 22
2.3 Key policy developments and legislative
changes................................................................................ 23
2.4 Development and Reform programme
cooperative banking – South Africa................... 23
2.5 Strategic outcome-oriented goals...................... 24

PUBLIC ENTITY’S GENERAL INFORMATION.........6
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS...................7
FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER.................................7
FOREWORD BY THE ACTING CHAIRPERSON... 11
Overview by Acting Managing Director........... 13
Statement of responsibility and confirmation
of accuracy of the Annual Report....................... 16
7. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW............................................. 17
7.1 Vision...................................................................................... 17
7.2 Mission.................................................................................. 17
7.3 Values..................................................................................... 17
8. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES............... 18
9. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE........................... 19

3. SECTOR PERFORMANCE INFORMATION........... 25
4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY
PROGRAMME.............................................................. 25
4.1 Programme 1: Managing Director and
Corporate Services Unit............................................. 25
4.2 Programme 2: Capacity Building Unit............... 33
4.3 Programme 3: Central Support Services.......... 40
4.4 The progress made so far.......................................... 41
5. LINKING PERFORMANCE WITH BUDGETS........ 50
6. REVENUE COLLECTION........................................... 51

CONTENTS
PART C:

PART D:

GOVERNANCE...................................................53

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT............70

1.
2.
3.
4.

INTRODUCTION......................................................... 53
PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES...................................... 53
EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY.......................................... 53
THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/BOARD........... 53
4.1 Composition of the board........................................ 54
4.2 Subcomittees.................................................................... 58

1. INTRODUCTION......................................................... 70
2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS... 72

RISK MANAGEMENT................................................. 60
INTERNAL AUDIT....................................................... 60
AUDIT COMMITTEE................................................... 61
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS.................................................. 65
FRAUD AND CORRUPTION..................................... 65
MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST................. 65
CODE OF CONDUCT................................................. 65
HEALTH, SAFETY AND
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES.......................................... 65
COMPANY/BOARD SECRETARY
(IF APPLICABLE)......................................................... 65
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY......................................... 66
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT.................................. 66

1. Report of the External Auditor............................. 80
2. Annual Financial Statements................................ 88

5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.

PART E:
FINANCIAL INFORMATION..............................78

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART A: GENERAL INFORMATION
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AGSA
AFS
AGM
AMD
APP
BANKSETA
B-BBEE
CBDA
CFI
CFO
CIPC
CBU
CS
CSS
DED
DIF
DPSA
DRDLR
DSBD
ERM
FSAP
FSB
FSC
FSRA
HR
HR&R
ICT
IMF
IT
KZN
MD
MLD
MoA
MoU
MTEF
NACFISA
NCR
NEHAWU
NPS
NT
PFMA

Auditor-General of South Africa
Annual Financial Statements
Annual General Meeting
Acting Managing Director
Annual Performance Plan
Banking Sector Education and Training Authority
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
Co-operative Banks Development Agency
Co-operative Financial Institution
Chief Financial Officer
Companies and Intellectual Property Commission
Capacity Building Unit
Corporate Services
Central Support Services
Department of Economic Development
Deposit Insurance Fund
Department of Public Service and Administration
Department of Rural Development and Land Reform
Department of Small Business Development
Enterprise Risk Management
Financial Sector Assessment Programme
Financial Services Board
Financial Services Co-operative
Financial Sector Regulation Act
Human Resources
Human Resources and Remuneration
Information and Communications Technology
International Monetary Fund
Information Technology
KwaZulu-Natal
Managing Director
Mzansi Leadership Development
Memorandum of Agreement
Memorandum of Understanding
Medium-Term Expenditure Framework
National Association of Co-operative Financial Institutions of South Africa
National Credit Regulator
National Education, Health and Allied Workers’ Union
National Payment System
National Treasury
Public Finance Management Act
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PA
PASA
ROA
SACCA
SACCO
SACCOL
SAICA
SAMAF
SAMWU
SARB
SCM
SEDA
SEFA
SLA
SOE
TR
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Prudential Authority
Payments Association of South Africa
Return on Assets
Savings and Credit Co-operative Association Congress
Savings and Credit Co-operative
Savings and Credit Co-operative League of South Africa
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
South African Microfinance Apex Fund
South African Municipal Workers’ Union
South African Reserve Bank
Supply Chain Management
Small Enterprise Development Agency
Small Enterprise Finance Agency
Service Level Agreement
State-owned entity
Treasury Regulations
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3. FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER

Tito Mboweni
Minister of Finance
The cooperative movement in our country is diversified
and extends across many sectors of the economy with
great potential to drive growth for social and economic
development. Cooperatives are therefore critical to
facilitate this development and there is deliberate
and continued support from government to promote
cooperatives and their contributions to the economic wellbeing of all South Africans. As we are in the last decade of
the National Development Plan (NDP) vision 2030 with a
financial inclusion target of 90%, efforts are underway to
refocus and reinvigorate the cooperative banking sector
with aims to actively promote a sector that reflects the
demographics of South Africa.
In March 2019, the World Bank awarded Rabo Partnerships,
the “South Africa Financial Sector Development and
Reform’ Programme: Transforming the market structure
of the financial sector”. The objective of the programme
is to advance support to the government on improving
the financial sector market structure with a specific
focus on the role of the cooperative banking sector. The
Rabo Partnerships team, together with the World Bank
will be in the country in the first quarter of the 2019/20
financial year, looking at identifying cooperative banking

growth constraints in South Africa and will provide
recommendations on how this sector can be further
supported. The findings will clearly articulate the policy
position on cooperative banking, as alluded to by my
predecessor in the previous financial year, but more
importantly, this will assist in the development of a
cooperative banking strategy for the country, as well as the
role of the cooperative banking institutions in transforming
the financial services sector. The development of the South
African cooperative banking sector is expected to advance
and contribute to the social and economic welfare of all
South Africans. Even though the promulgation of the
Financial Sector Regulation Act (2017) resulted in the
CBDA’s Supervision Unit moving to the newly established
Prudential Authority, the two organisations will continue to
work together towards the development of a sustainable
cooperative banking sector. The CBDA and the Prudential
Authority are currently working on a memorandum of
understanding to solidify their collaborative efforts.
As part of the financial sector reform commitment,
the CBDA is participating in the Payments Policy and
Regulation Coordination Forum (PPRCF), together with
the South African Reserve Bank, the National Treasury

9
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and other stakeholders in the banking sector. The main
objective of the PPRCF is to ensure that the National
Payment System primary and subordinated legislation is
robust, agile relevant and forward-looking.
The CBDA continues to support and develop responsible
financial cooperatives, through innovative capacity
building interventions, like the Cooperative Bank in a
Box tool. To enable ease of business operations for new
entrants into the banking sector the tool will be rolled out
in the 2019/20 financial year. The continued collaboration
between the CBDA and the BANKSETA is commendable,
as the two organisations strive for a more professional
and efficient cooperative banking sector that inspires
confidence.
The Banking System and Shared Services offered to the
sector by the CBDA are slowly gaining traction with 10
institutions using the core banking system, comprising a
total membership of 23 476, total accounts amounting to
38 901, with a transaction rate of about 4 086 per month
and savings of about R65 million. This clearly demonstrates
the need for this kind of service by the cooperative banking
sector towards affording their members first-order retail
banking services.
I would like to congratulate the National Association of
Cooperative Financial Institutions (NACFISA) for being
the first registered representative body for their affiliated
Cooperative Banking Institutions. I am hopeful that
NACFISA will advance the needs of its constituency by
continuously lobbying government, influencing policy,
legislation and the regulatory framework.
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I thank the CBDA and Cooperative Banking Institutions’
Board of Directors, Management and staff, for their
commitment and efforts in promoting a sustainable
cooperative banking sector.

Tito Mboweni, MP
Minister of Finance
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4. FOREWORD BY THE ACTING CHAIRPERSON

Jeffrey Ndumo
Acting Chairperson
The year under review has been a challenging year for the
South African economy with high levels of unemployment,
a high rate of inflation and weak growth. Nevertheless,
the Co-operative Banks Development Agency (CBDA)
Board has been able to provide direction and guided
the agency in implementing its legislative mandate
while ensuring a conducive working environment for
management, staff and all stakeholders. With the aim of
fighting unemployment and inequality, the promotion
of cooperatives has been prominent in various policy
documents and pronouncements; we are appreciative
of the support we receive from the Ministry of Finance
in promoting cooperatives and the cooperative banking
sector.
We continue to drive initiatives in the sector that will
transform the lives of South Africans by broadening access
to and participation in financial services and bring about
financial inclusion.
The banking industry is one that has been most impacted
by digital disruptions; with numerous trends and
developments and the cooperative banking sector will not
be excluded, as we aim to follow the latest global trends

and innovative technologies relevant to the banking sector.
The CBDA has partnered with ABSA bank in preparation
for cooperative banking institutions to participate in the
National Payment System and this initiative aims to further
professionalise the cooperative banking institutions in
rendering banking services while making the model more
attractive to the youth and other market segments by
improving the institutions’ value proposition.
It is with great pride that I announce that two of the
Standing Committee on Finance and Portfolio Committee
on Trade and Industry’s recommendations articulated in
the Transformation of the Financial Sector Interim Report,
dated 6 September 2017, are currently being implemented.
These are:
i)

The development of a National Cooperative Banking
Strategy. The CBDA, working with National Treasury,
World Bank, Rabo Partnerships and other key
stakeholders in the cooperative banking sector are
planning for the first mission to take place in May 2019
where the Rabo Partnerships team will visit South
Africa to conduct a preliminary study in understanding
the status quo of the sector. This will be the first of
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a number of robust interactions with policymakers,
regulators, CBDA, cooperative banking sector,
Financial Sector Transformation Council, Banking
Sector Education and Training Authority (BANKSETA),
Small Enterprise Finance Agency (SEFA), etc.,
culminating into the National Cooperative Banking
Strategy, which will hopefully end the fragmented
approach by government in supporting this sector.
ii)

Strengthening the legislative and regulatory
framework. The CBDA and Prudential Authority
(PA) worked together in developing an interim
arrangement for the registration, supervision and
regulation of the cooperative banking institutions
under the PA to ensure that the process was fair and
just for the sector. The commitment by the PA in
ensuring a progressive regulatory regime is evidenced
by their stance in putting on hold the development
of new rules for the cooperative banking sector, until
the finalisation of the National Cooperative Banking
Strategy, this indeed is a commendable move. The
two organisations, the CBDA and PA, are in the
process of signing a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) which will:
• Promote collaboration between the CBDA and the
PA on issues related to the regulatory framework,
of co-operative banks and the Co-operative
Financial Institutions (CFIs) to support the CBDA
in the development of a sustainable co-operative
banking sector.
• Jointly instil a culture of compliance and
operational discipline, in line with the regulatory
framework, for prospective and registered
cooperative banks and CFIs.

Banking Strategy will assist not only in articulating a policy
position on cooperative banking, but also provide clear,
practical, implementable recommendations that will see to
the adequate resourcing of the agency, a more sustainable
business model, and perhaps even a more suitable location
for the CBDA.
The stakeholder base that CBDA has established with
organisations that have similar mandates, like the
BANKSETA, SEFA and others, has assisted the agency in
achieving its goals, as evidenced by the introduction of
technology for the sector, and innovative training solutions.
I must, in this regard, congratulate management and staff
for developing the Cooperative Bank in a Box tool that
will strengthen operational capabilities of the cooperative
banking institutions.
I echo the same sentiments of the Minister, and implore
NACFISA to robustly engage government and other
stakeholders in their quest for a self-sufficient, self-reliant,
sustainable, and sound cooperative banking sector in the
country.
A sincere thanks to my fellow board members, it has been a
challenging year, with most board members still navigating
their way into the new space of cooperative banking,
but that did not shift their focus on their oversight role,
instead it sharpened it, demanding more accountability
from management and staff. There are three investigations
underway, the outcomes of which are expected in the
2019/20 financial year. Hopefully, these investigations will
contribute towards enhancing good governance within
the organisation. I would also like to thank Management
and staff for their commitment to the development of a
sustainable cooperative banking sector.

• Create an enabling environment for the
cooperative banking sector through a progressive,
innovative regulatory framework that supports the
safety and soundness of the sector.
The CBDA is still facing numerous challenges regarding its
resourcing, we are hopeful that the National Cooperative
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Jeffrey Ndumo
CBDA Board Acting Chairperson
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Nomadelo Sauli
Acting Managing Director

2018/19 Financial Year
– “Banking Sector Disruptors”
The banking industry in South Africa is evolving at a
rapid speed with digital players entering the market,
responding to ever-changing customer needs. In July
2018, BusinessTech mentioned about six banks that were
about to be launched in the third quarter and some at the
beginning of 2019. Among these were TymeBank, a fully
digital branchless bank aimed at servicing retail customers
in the low to middle-income bracket, African Bank’s My
World transactional banking, Post Bank, Discovery Bank,
and two mutual banks, one of which is our very own, a CFI,
Young Women in Business Network, and Bank Zero, as well
as small, medium and micro enterprises (SMMEs).
The above begs the question, is there still space for
cooperative banking in the marketplace? Is cooperative
banking still relevant? If Discovery Bank is going to be
launched at a cost of R1.5 billion, according to BusinessTech
of 23 July 2018, is the cooperative banking sector well
capitalised to meet these industry standards when setting
up a retail banking operation? Does the cooperative
banking sector have the necessary technology, offer the

kind of convenience, products and services to meet the
needs of its members, as well as attract the youth segment
of the population, SMMEs and middle-income earners?
In my view, yes there is still space and a case for cooperative
banking in the country. But in terms of resources the
cooperative banking sector, in its current form, it is not
well positioned to venture into the mainstream banking
sector as it is under capitalised, has not yet embraced
technology, products and services are still primitive, there
is no network of cooperative banking institutions for ease
of interoperability, cooperative banking does not offer the
transacting convenience that many consumers of banking
services require in the 21st century. The cooperative banking
sector cannot undertake this mammoth task on its own, it
needs government intervention. The Co-operative Banks
Development Agency (CBDA), the government agency
mandated with creating an enabling environment for new
entrants into the banking sector, with its capacity and
resource constraints, is also in no position to catapult the
cooperative banking sector into the next level.
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The year under review
Highlights:
Implementation of two of the recommendations of
the Standing Committee on Finance and Portfolio
Committee on Trade and Industry’s as articulated in the
Transformation of the Financial Sector Interim Report
of 6 September 2017.
i)

Development of a National Cooperative
Banking Strategy:
• Rabobank Partnerships will develop, in close
cooperation with the World Bank, CBDA and the
cooperative banking institutions, a comprehensive
reform programme for the South African
cooperative banking sector.
• The strategy will clearly articulate a policy
position on cooperative banking (working with
policymakers), options and/or models for a
financially sound and sustainable cooperative
banking sector.
• Possible recommendations for the legislative
framework.
• The draft strategy will be submitted to the Finance
Standing Committee in 3rd Quarter of the 2019/20
financial year.

ii) Strengthening the legislative and regulatory
framework:
• CFI Workstream – CBDA and the Prudential
Authority (PA) worked together in developing
an interim arrangement for the registration,
supervision and regulation of Co-operative
Financial Institutions (CFIs).

14

•

The commitment of the PA to ensure a
progressive regulatory regime is evident in their
stance in placing on hold the development of
new rules for the cooperative banking sector,
until the finalisation of the National Cooperative
Banking Strategy.

•

CBDA together with the PA are in the process of
signing a memorandum of understanding (MoU).

iii) Integration to the National Payment System
The sector has been promised access to the National
Payment System (NPS) since the launch of the Banking
Platform Project in 2014. Introduction of this has arrived.
ABSA bank has been appointed as the partner bank, this
means, once implementation takes place in the 2019/20
financial year, the cooperative banking sector would be
able to transact at points of sale across the country, be
able access funds at ATMs, be able to transact with other
CBIs participating on the banking platform project. Both
board of directors and managers will be trained on how to
effectively and efficiently manage the cards to ensure that
they get to the rightful owners timeously and minimise the
risk of fraud while being on the premises of CBIs.
iv) Cooperative Bank in a Box
CBDA team developed this innovative tool that will see the
cooperative banking sector, especially newly registered
entities, doing things right the first time, from governance
down to their banking operations. The tool will improve
operational efficiency for the CBIs. The tool will also assist
as an early warning detector on issues pertaining to
governance, financial management and compliance and
that will assist the CBDA in being proactive as opposed to
being reactive. The roll out of this tool is envisaged for the
2019/20 financial year.
General Financial Review of the CBDA
The CBDA, as a schedule 3A entity, is wholly dependent on
the National Treasury for continued funding of operations.
The total budget of just under R21 million is not sufficient
for the CBDA to deliver on its mandate, hence the need for
a complete review of the CBDA business model and value
proposition.
The year ahead
CBDA is looking forward to the tabling of the National
Cooperative Banking Strategy, which will articulate a
compelling vision and a clear plan on how to drive the
cooperative banking sector to unprecedented growth
levels and sustainability.
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Acknowledgements
I would like to thank the CBDA board of directors for the
confidence they demonstrated in me by appointing me to
the position of Acting Managing Director of the CBDA in
the first quarter of the 2018/19 financial year. It has really
been an exciting journey, but at the same time challenging.
I have with effect from 1 June 2019 tendered my request to
be released from the acting position as I would like to focus
on my core function as Director: Capacity Building. I have
assured the board that I will continue in the Acting position
until such time that they secure an interim arrangement
and/or permanent solution, whichever comes first.

To the cooperative banking sector and stakeholders
at large, thank you for heeding our call whenever we
needed your participation and assistance respectively. A
special thanks to the BANKSETA, Small Enterprise Finance
Agency (SEFA), the provincial departments of Economic
Development: KwaZulu-Natal, Gauteng, Limpopo and the
Eastern Cape for their unwavering support.

Some of the lessons I have learnt in my short stint at the
helm are that leadership calls for resilience, patience, agility,
good listening skills and definitely a strong management
team, because no-one can lead alone. It is, therefore,
very important for me to express my sincere gratitude to
the CBDA management team and staff for their support,
dedication and commitment to the cooperative banking
cause, for assisting me in holding the fort while a permanent
solution was being sought.

Nomadelo Sauli
Acting Managing Director
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6. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND
CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY OF THE ANNUAL
REPORT
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:
All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited
by the Auditor-General.
The Annual Report is complete, accurate and free from any omissions.
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the Annual Report as issued by National
Treasury.
The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the General Recognised Accounting
Principles standards applicable to the public entity.
The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and for the judgements
made in this information.
The accounting authority is responsible for establishing, and implementing, a system of internal controls which has been
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the integrity and reliability of the performance information, human
resources information and Annual Financial Statements.
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.
In our opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the operations, performance information, human resources information
and financial affairs of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.
Yours faithfully

___________________
Nomadelo Sauli
Acting Managing Director
31 July 2019

___________________
Mr Jeffry Ndumo
Acting Chairperson of the Board
31 July 2019
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7. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

7.1 Vision
A competitive, accessible and sustainable cooperative banking sector that empowers communities.

7.2 Mission
The mission of the Co-operative Banks Development Agency (CBDA) is to develop the cooperative banking sector through the:
• Provision of innovative capacity development and support to Co-operative Financial Institutions (CFIs) and their members.
• Promotion of cooperative banking and the cooperative philosophy and principles.
• Enhancing operational capability and discipline in the CFI sector.

7.3 Values
The CBDA values are as follows:

Passion:
To be driven and dedicated with a sense of urgency and encouraging full participation and a spirit of celebration;

Integrity:
To be honest, frank, accountable and transparent;

Mutual respect:
To be trustworthy, selfless, willing to serve and compassionate with shared values and a respect for decisions;

Commitment to solidarity and co-operation:
To be committed to teamwork, which includes being supportive, having a common purpose, sharing information and
taking responsibility;

Excellence:
To be value-adding, diligent, professional, punctual and competent. It includes giving attention to detail and having a
commitment to knowledge and learning; and

Confidentiality:
In dealings with all stakeholders.
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8. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES
These include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
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Co-operative Banks Act (2007), as amended by the Financial Services Laws General Amendment Act (2013)
Banks Act Exemption Notice (2014), Government Gazette 37903, 15 August 2014
Public Finance Management Act (1999) (PFMA)
Treasury Regulations
Financial Sector Regulation Act (2017)
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1.

AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT:
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance
information to provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance
against predetermined objectives is included in the report to management, with material findings being reported under
the Predetermined objectives heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory requirements section of the Auditor’s
Report.
Refer to page 77 of the Auditor’s Report, published as Part E: Financial Information.

2. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS
2.1 Service delivery environment
The Acting Managing Director (AMD) is responsible for overseeing the preparation of the CBDA’s performance information
and for judgements made on this information.
The AMD is also responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal controls that will provide reasonable
assurance about the integrity and reliability of the performance information.
In the AMD’s opinion, the performance information fairly reflects actual achievements against planned objectives and
targets in line with the strategic and Annual Performance Plans of the CBDA for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.
The CBDA’s performance information for the year ended 31 March 2019 has been examined by the Auditor-General,
whose report is presented on pages 21to 51.
The CBDA’s performance information set out on pages 21to 51 was approved by the board.

2.2 Organisational environment
The CBDA has three units:
Corporate Services
Capacity Building
Central Support Services.
Corporate Services (CS) unit is responsible for strategic leadership, governance, financial management and human
resources of the CBDA and ensuring effective and efficient coordination of all the agency’s activities. The unit is also
responsible for stakeholder management, marketing and research.
The Capacity Building Unit (CBU) is responsible for supporting, promoting and developing CFIs and encouraging the
establishment of representative bodies and support organisations.
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The Central Support Services (CSS) Unit provides a shared services solution which includes a Core Banking System
to the Cooperative Banking Sector. The shared services provided by the CSS create the ‘Bank’ back office environment
that allows the sector to function in a similar fashion as commercial banks on an equal footing while enjoying economy
of scale. The integration of the cooperative banking institutions (CBIs) into the National Payment System (NPS) will be
managed by CSS, as well as a relationship with the partner bank and service provider of the banking technology. The CSS
unit continuously engages with stakeholders and interested parties to raise funds for this initiative.
The CBDA continues to depend on the National Treasury for office accommodation, information and communications
technology (ICT), legal, supply chain management, risk management and internal audit services. Service Level Agreements
(SLAs) have been signed with units within the National Treasury in order to improve the efficiency of services offered.
The CBDA’s goal is to explore and understand challenges the Cooperative Banking Sector faces in servicing their members.

2.3 Key policy developments and legislative changes
2.3.1 Implementation of the Financial Sector Regulation Act
The biggest highlight was the implementation of the Financial Sector Regulation Act (2017) (FSRA). The FSRA brings
into effect the ‘Twin Peaks’ framework, i.e. having a prudential regulator, which will be known as the Prudential Authority
(PA), with the mandate of promoting and enhancing the safety and soundness of financial institutions (which includes
co-operative banks and CFIs as defined in the Co-operative Banks Act (2007); to promote and enhance the safety and
soundness of market infrastructure; to protect financial customers against the risk of financial institutions failing to meet
their obligations; and assist in maintaining financial stability. As a result of these changes, the CBDA Supervision Unit had
to relocate to the South African Reserve Bank (SARB). This relocation took place on 9 October 2017, however the official
relocation took place on 1 April 2018. In the 2018/19 financial year no CFIs were registered under the PA, this was due to
the new standards for registration that the PA was busy developing. All CFIs will now have to be registered under the PA.

2.4 Development and Reform programme - cooperative banking –
South Africa
The development of the South African cooperative banking sector is envisaged as a way to contribute, advance and
promote the social and economic welfare of all South Africans. For this project Rabo Partnerships will develop, in close
cooperation with World Bank and the CBDA, options for a comprehensive reform programme for the South African
cooperative banking sector. These options will cover elements contributing to financial sustainability and performance,
possible recommendations for the legislative framework and policies, developing a sound and sustainable cooperative
banking sector strategy for the cooperative network, and additionally to the existing financial sector in South Africa.
In the 2019/20 financial year, CBDA will work on the development of a well-founded, supported and defensible Cooperative
Banking Strategy for South Africa. The World Bank offered help to develop a comprehensive reform plan for the cooperative
sector in order to make it viable, efficient and effective and to help CBDA in its delivery of support to this sector.
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2.5 Strategic outcome-oriented goals
In terms of its strategic outcome-oriented goals, the CBDA’s achievements for the period under review were as follows:
• 10 (ten) CFIs are using the banking platform and are now able to be fully functional on the system.
• In the year under review 15 (fifteen) presentations were made to interested groups.
• Numerous presentations were made to stakeholders to promote the CFI model.
• In the year under review, R9.5 million was sourced from key stakeholders with a similar mandate to assist the CBDA
to achieve its objective.
• The registration of the NACFISA as a representative body.

__________________
Nomadelo Sauli
Acting Managing Director
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TOTAL SECTOR PERFORMANCE AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2019
Number of
institutions
February*

Members

Deposits
R Millions

Assets
R Millions

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

3

4

3 246

4 321

R128.8

R145.3

R153.5

R177.4

CFIs

23

22

24 618

23 170

R128.6

R149.1

R180.4

R192.1

Total

26

26

27 864

27 491

R257.4

R294.4

R333.9

R369.5

Cooperative
Banks

Source: Prudential Authority 2018/19 Annual Report.
*The financial year-end of cooperative banks and CFIs is 28 February.

4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY
PROGRAMME
4.1 Programme 1: Managing Director and Corporate Services Unit
The Managing Director and Corporate Services Unit is responsible for strategic leadership, governance, financial
management and human resources of the CBDA and ensuring effective and efficient coordination of all the agency’s
activities. The unit is also responsible for stakeholder management, marketing, research and administration of the
Stabilisation Fund. Limited financial resources prevent this unit from carrying out these functions effectively.
Since the establishment of the CBDA, the CFI sector has had a lot to celebrate. The 22 CFIs registered on the CBDA register
have until 1 August 2019 to re-apply to be registered with the PA. It is evident from the 22 CFIs that the sector is slowly
gaining traction and the public is beginning to understand and appreciate the impact of the CFI model in order to reform
economic development for the under- and unbanked.
The highlights of the year under review are:

4.1.1 Appointment of partner bank for the Cooperative Banking Sector:
•

The appointment of the banking partner, ABSA, has been one of the major highlights in the previous financial year,
which will see the Cooperative Banking Sector being integrated into the NPS.

•

The development and introduction of a Cooperative Bank in a Box, which is a plug and play tool for newly registered
and existing cooperative banking institutions will assist the sector with their daily operations regarding financial
management and compliance to enhance operational efficiency.
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4.1.2 Other strategic matters:
i)

National Cooperative Banking Strategy
The development of the National Cooperative Banking Strategy for South Africa is currently underway, with the
assistance of the National Treasury securing funding from the World Bank. Rabobank Partnerships was appointed
to undertake the study. The National Cooperative Banking Strategy will assist with the articulation of the policy
position on cooperative banking, review of the legislative and regulatory framework, the effectiveness of the
capacity building interventions of the CBDA and the role of the sector in transforming the financial services sector.
The final strategy will be presented to Parliament as this is one of the recommendations of the Portfolio Committee
on Finance and Standing Committee on Trade and Industry.
This process will also inform CBDA’s strategic objectives, priorities and business model for the next five years.

ii) Co-operative Banks Development Agency and Prudential Authority MoU
CBDA and PA are in the process of signing an MOU:
•

Promote collaboration between the CBDA and the PA on issues related to the regulatory framework of cooperative
banks and CFIs to support the CBDA in the development of a sustainable cooperative banking sector.

•

Jointly instil a culture of compliance and operational discipline, in line with the regulatory framework, for
prospective and registered cooperative Banks and CFIs.

•

Create an enabling environment for the cooperative banking sector through a progressive, innovative regulatory
framework that supports the safety and soundness of the sector.

•

Provide a framework for and encourage the parties to:
a) liaise on matters of common interest;
b) keep each other abreast on policy, statutory and developmental matters of joint concern;
c) conduct joint public consultation sessions pertaining to either supervision and regulation, as well as capacity
building and the development framework for the sector; and
d) conduct joint training programmes for the cooperative banking sector on mattersof common interest.
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iii) Participation in the Payments Policy and Regulation Coordination Forum
Nomination of the CBDA by the SARB to be a participant in the Payments Policy and Regulation Coordination
Forum (PPRCF), whose objective is to consult and collaborate with the various stakeholders in developing policy,
legislation and regulation for the NPS, and to engage the stakeholders on other policy, legislative or regulatory
reform and developments impacting the NPS. This is to ensure that the NPS primary and subordinated legislation
is robust, agile, relevant and forward-looking. The CBDA is represented in this forum by Ms Raesibe Mphahlele and
Mr Kobus van Niekerk.
iv) Participation in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank Financial Sector Assessment
Programme (FSAP) review
The National Treasury has invited the CBDA to participate in the IMF/World Bank FSAP review process, which is a
comprehensive assessment of the country’s financial sector, aimed at gauging the stability and soundness of the
financial sector and to assess it potential contribution to growth and development. The CBDA is represented in this
assessment process by Mr Timothy Mutyavaviri and Mr Oral Matsimbi.
v) Bank Resolution Bill
The CBDA is looking forward to the outcome of the comments it made to the Bank Resolution Bill during the
public consultation process towards the end of 2018. The CBDA recommended the repeal of Chapter VIIA of the
Cooperative Banks Act (2007), which makes provision for the registration of (CFIs. The removal of this section could
result in CFIs being included in the Bank Resolution Framework, which also talks to Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF).
The DIF for all types of cooperative banking institutions could strengthen confidence in the cooperative banking
sector, while ensuring protection of member deposits that are usually the most vulnerable.
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Actual
achievement
2015/2016

10

-

Performance
indicator

Number of MoUs
with Stakeholders
(revised/existing)

Number of
new MoUs with
Stakeholders

-

8

Actual
achievement
2016/2017

Strategic Objectives 1: Build strategic partnerships

-

8

Actual
achievement
2017/2018

1

8

Planned
target
2018/2019

2

5

Actual
achievement
2018/2019

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS, PLANNED TARGETS AND ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS

+1

-3

Overachieved
The CBDA focused on identifying key
stakeholders that share the same mandate
of assisting CFIs.

Not achieved
Existing MoUs:
Companies and Intellectual Property
Commission (CIPC)
SEFA
DRDLR
Gauteng DED
National Credit Regulator (NCR)
With less human capacity the CBDA could
not achieve the target, some MoUs could
not be revised because deliverables on
MoUs were completed.

Deviation
Comment on variances
from planned
target for
2018/2019
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Actual
achievement
2015/2016

-

Performance
indicator

Implement
initiatives to ensure
fund becomes
operational

Operational

Actual
achievement
2016/2017

Strategic Objectives 2: A financially stable CFI sector

3
Stabilisation
Fund
Committee
meetings

Actual
achievement
2017/2018
3 Stabilisation
Fund
Committee
meetings

Planned
target
2018/2019
0

Actual
achievement
2018/2019
-3

The proposed Deposit Insurance
Fund excludes CFIs at this stage as
the Cooperative Banks Act but makes
provision for the establishment of CFIs.
The CBDA has made submissions to both
the Prudential Authority and the National
Treasury for the repeal of Section 40A that
provides for the establishment of CFIs. The
act is due for review in the near future.

The South African Reserve Bank and
the National Treasury developed a Bank
Resolution Framework, which also talks to
deposit insurance. The Bank Resolution Bill
will be tabled in the 6th Parliament in the
near future and implementation thereof is
not known at this stage.

This is due to the introduction of the
Financial Sector Laws Amendment Bill that
aims to create a resolution framework and
to provide for a Deposit Insurance Fund for
the cooperative banking sector. It however
excludes CFIs and only accommodates
cooperative banks. CBDA is advocating for
the inclusion of CFIs.

Not Achieved

Deviation
Comment on variances
from planned
target for
2018/2019
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30

Actual
achievement
2015/2016

5

-

Performance
indicator

Number of
communication
activities (e.g.
magazines,
newsletter,
booklets, etc)*.

Number of
outreach and
education
activities about
the CFI model
to groups and
institutions (e.g
workshops,
presentations, etc.)

-

5

Actual
achievement
2016/2017

12

5

Actual
achievement
2017/2018

12

15

3

2018/2019

2018/2019
4

Actual
achievement

Planned
target

Strategic Objectives 3: CBDA brand and CFI model is known and recognised

+3

-1

Deviation
from planned
target for
2018/2019

The co-operative banking sector appeared
to be gaining momentum, as more
requests for outreach and education
activities about the CFI model to groups
were received.

Overachieved

Delays in finalising the new requirements
for CFIs held back publishing the CFI startup guide and pamphlet based on the new
requirements.

Not Achieved

Comment on variances
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Number of MoUs with stakeholders (revised/existing)
CBDA identifies stakeholders who are strategic partners to assist in achieving a common objective. Management of
stakeholders is key for CBDA to maintain a working relationship to source additional funding and achieve both CBDA
and stakeholder objectives. Service Level Agreements are signed with the National Treasury to assist and support the
administrative running of CBDA in terms of office space, ICT, Supply Chain Management (SCM), etc. as CBDA does not
have sufficient funding to carry out these functions. Stakeholder funding received was R9.5 million.
Not Achieved: 5 (Five) out of 8 (eight) MoUs were signed in the year under review.
Implement initiatives to ensure fund becomes operational
The Stabilisation Fund’s purpose is to provide liquidity assistance to CFIs when financial distress is encountered.
Not Achieved: This is due to the introduction of the Financial Sector Laws Amendment Bill which aims to create a
resolution framework and to provide for a deposit insurance fund for the cooperative banking sector. It however excludes
CFIs and only accommodates cooperative banks, CBDA is advocating for the inclusion of CFIs.
The SARB and the National Treasury developed a Bank Resolution Framework, which also talks to deposit insurance. The
Bank Resolution Bill will be tabled in the 6th Parliament in the near future and implementation thereof is not known at this
stage.
The proposed DIF excludes CFIs at this stage as the Cooperative Banks Act makes provision for the establishment of CFIs.
The CBDA has made submissions to both the PA and the National Treasury for the repeal of Section 40A that provides for
the establishment of CFIs. The act is due for review in the near future.
Number of communication activities (e.g magazines, newsletter, booklets, etc.)
Not Achieved: In pursuance of its objective to communicate the CFI value proposition widely, the CBDA has published
one edition of the CFI Communication Newsletter, one issue of the The Connection newsletter, and the Annual Rreport in
the year under review. The delay in the finalisation of the new requirements for registration with the PA held back the
publishing of the new CFI start-up guide and CFI pamphlet.
Number of outreach and education activities about the CFI model to groups and institutions (e.g workshops, presentations,
etc)*
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Activities within the CBDA’s outreach programme included the following:
• A presentation to the National Youth Development Agency (NYDA) conference.
• A presentation about the CFI model was made to the Randburg Taxi Association.
• Presentations were made at the International Cooperatives Day in Limpopo.
• A presentation was made to the Culture Extending Beyond Evolution group.
• A presentation to a women church group called Mitiro womens’ groups.
• A presentation to Tinokunda Stokvel group.
• A presentation to a research Non Profit Organisation called Informer Junction and to an SABC Radio Station
in Limpopo.
• Attendance of Gauteng’s first Co-operative Financial Institution Round Table and an Enterprise Financing Forum
at Ekurhuleni.
Overachieved: Outreach and education was offered to 15 groups about the CFI model.
Strategy to overcome areas of under performance
CBDA will continue to build partnerships to achieve the target for number of MoUs with stakeholders. Management will
monitor progress to targets on a monthly and quarterly basis.
Changes to planned targets
There were no changes to planned targets during the year under review.
RSA financial co-operatives retail bonds update
The National Treasury launched the Financial Co-operative Retail Savings Bonds in October 2011 to provide a secure
savings instrument that CFIs and cooperative banks (CBs) can invest in. The bonds offer competitive interest rates,
calculated biannually onto investments. Additional features take into account the uniqueness of the CFI model. Through
top-ups, it allows for early withdrawals and preservation of capital with no fees and charges levied and risk free.
The CFIs that continue to save in these retail bonds have accumulated impressive interest on their capital amounts. The
CBDA encourages more CFIs to see value and invest in this investment vehicle which is risk free and provides guaranteed
financial growth. By the end of this financial year 2018/19, R5.255 million was invested in the Financial Co-operative Retail
Savings Bonds.
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4.2 Programme 2: Capacity Building Unit
The CBU is responsible for supporting, promoting and developing CFIs and encouraging the establishment of representative
bodies and support organisations. In carrying out this responsibility, the unit determines the sector’s training needs and
develops appropriate capacity enhancement programmes in conjunction with stakeholders such as representative
bodies, BANKSETA, other development agencies and universities. It also focuses on ensuring the design and accreditation
of CFI-specific courses, as well as developing and/or adopting appropriate training material for such curricula.
CBU highlights for the 2018/19 financial year
•
•
•
•

Development of financial management and compliance management tools for enhancing CFI performance.
Conducted 30 investor education workshops as part of CFI member education with the assistance of the Financial
Sector Conduct Authority.
Managed to sign an MoU with BANKSETA for training of CFI board, managers, staff and board committees.
Conducted 15 information sessions for 15 prospective CFIs.

Challenges for the 2018/19 financial year
The budget was insufficient in terms of rolling out the capacity building tools to the CFIs.

RSA Financial Cooperatives Retail Bonds
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-

Number of newly
registered CFIs
operationalised
within six months
from the date of
registration.

-

2

1

1

2

2

Actual
Actual
Planned
Actual
achievement achievement achievement target
2016/2017
2017/2018
2018/2019
2015/2016

Number of
3
organised groups
(public sector stateowned entities
(SOEs), unions, etc.
assisted with the
establishment of CFI
per annum.

Performance
indicator

Strategic Objective : An adequately capacitated CFI Sector

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS, THEIR TARGETS AND ACTUAL RESULTS

0

0

Actual
achievement
2018/2019

-2

-2

Deviation
from
planned
target for
2018/2019

Not achieved
Due to the legislative changes noted above,
no new CFIs were registered.

Not achieved
The enactment of the Financial Sector
Regulation Act resulted in the Supervision
Unit of the CBDA moving to the PA at the
SARB. The change in the regulator meant
new rules for CFIs had to be formulated,
and as a result an interim arrangement for
CFI registration was finalised in September
2018, under which CFIs should apply.
No CFIs were approved for registration
between October 2018 and March 2019,
due to the changes in legislation.

Comment on variances
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Actual
achievement
2015/2016

-

-

-

Performance
indicator

Number of CFIs
provided with direct
technical assistance
in financial and
compliance
management per
annum

Number of CFIs
provided with
Internal Audit
Activities direct
technical assistance
per annum

Number of CFI
board members,
board committees,
management and
staff trained per
annum

-

-

-

Actual
achievement
2016/2017

-

12

11

Actual
achievement
2017/2018

Strategic Objective : An adequately capacitated CFI Sector

120

7

10

Planned
target
2018/2019

173

2

15

Actual
achievement
2018/2019

+53

-5

+5

Deviation
from
planned
target for
2018/2019

Overachieved
Through collaboration with a stakeholder,
the unit managed to train more delegates
than planned.

Not Achieved
Due to reprioritisation of operational
activities, on-site support was put on hold,
hence only 2 (two) out of 7 (seven) (29 per
cent) was achieved.

Some CFIs were assisted more than once
hence 33 Direct Technical Assistance
reports were compiled for the period.

Overachieved
Target overachieved since the Technical
Analysts are responsible for CFIs within
their allocated provinces, this allows the
Technical Analysts to have direct focus on
their CFIs needs.

Comment on variances
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Number of organised groups (public sector SOEs, unions etc.) assisted with the establishment
of CFI per annum
The assisted CFIs are listed below:
Name of CFI

Application/Registration status

1. NARYSEC

Application not submitted

2. Indlovukazi YakwaZulu

Application submitted to Prudential Authority

3. Umnotho

Application submitted to Prudential Authority

4. Harambee

Application submitted to Prudential Authority

5. Motswedi

Application submitted to Prudential Authority

6. Immortal Investment Group

Application not submitted

7. Sakumnotho Youth

Application not submitted

8. Women Bank

Application not submitted

9. Department of Defence

Application not submitted

10. Siyathuthuka Financial Council of Coops

Application not submitted

11. Randburg Taxi Association

Application not submitted

12. Cape Town Islamic Chucrh

Application not submitted

13. The Culture Extending Beyond

Application not submitted

14. Mitiro Group of Women

Application not summitted

15. Evolution Group

Application not submitted

Not achieved:
The enactment of the Financial Sector Regulation Act resulted in the Supervision Unit of the CBDA moving to the PA at
the SARB. The change in the regulator meant that new rules for CFIs had to be formulated, and as a result an interim
arrangement for CFI registration was finalised in September 2018, under which CFIs should apply.
No CFIs were approved for registration between October 2018 and March 2019, due to the changes in legislation.
Number of organised groups assisted per province
The graph that follows depicts the number of organised groups assisted per province. More CFIs were assisted in Gauteng
mainly because of the proximity of Gauteng groups to the CBDA offices.
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Graph 4.2: 1 Number of organised groups assisted per province

Number of CFIs per Direct Technical Intervention

7%
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7%
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53%
20%

Number of newly registered CFIs operationalised within six months from the date of registration
Not Achieved: The target was not achieved since no new CFIs were registered in the 2018/19 financial year.
Number of CFIs provided with direct technical assistance in financial management and compliance per annum
Overachieved: Target overachieved since the Technical Analysts are responsible for CFIs within their allocated provinces.
This allows the Technical Analysts to have direct focus on their CFIs’ needs. Some CFIs were assisted more than once hence
33 Direct Technical Assistance reports were compiled for the period.
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Graph 4.2: 2 Direct technical assistance interventions

Number of CFIs per Direct Technical Intervention
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Number of CFI provided with direct technical assistance on internal audit function per annum
Not achieved: Two CFIs were assisted with internal audits, one in Limpopo and another one in North West. Due to
reprioritisation of operational activities, on-site support was put on hold, hence only two out of seven (29 per cent) was
achieved.
Number of CFI board members, board committees, management and staff trained per annum
Overachieved: Through the assistance of BANKSETA, the unit managed to perform above the target and that led to 173
particiapants being trained. The following training programmes were conducted: governance training, risk management
training and performance management training. The graph that folows depicts the number of participants per training
programme.
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Graph 4.2: 3 Number of participants per training programme

Number of Participants per training programme
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Changes to planned targets
No in-year changes to performance indicators and/or targets have been affected in the 2018/19 financial year.
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4.3 Programme 3: Central Support Services Unit
The CSS was established to provide the CFI sector with a shared services capability that will assist the CFIs to participate in
the NPS, as well as achieve operational efficiency that will translate into providing financial services to its members on an
equal footing with the commercial banking sector.
The strategic objective of the CSS and the banking platform project is to “enhance the CFIs operational capabilities by
integration into the National Payment System by using a robust banking platform”.
The diagram that folows demonstrates the progress of the system since its inception. The unit continues to provide a back
office function where the CFI users receive on-site and telephonic support.
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The benefits of the Shared Services Banking Solution:
The offering of CBDA relating to the Shared Services is based on three pillars with the commensurate Benefits:
• Pillar 1: Banking Platform and Accounting System
• Pillar 2: Central Support Services
• Pillar 3: National Payment System integration.
The Shared Services offering provides the cooperative banking sector with economy of scale as costs are shared by
all participants.
Pillar 1: Banking Platform and Accounting System
The banking platform is the most cost-effective banking system available that offers more than just account management.
The costs per member account is very competitive as opposed to the retail banking sector, as well as the smaller systems
bandied about, and it is Rand-based.
The costs are based in Rand and are therefore not subject to exchange rate movements.
Cloud Based system with auto backup and alternate site that ensure system availability 24/7. No need for doing your own
backups as it is taken care off.
The service provider and system is Payment Card Industry (PCI) compliant, as well as registered with the Payment
Association of South Africa (PASA) as a System Operator.
Pillar 2: Central Support Services
The CSS is key to the success of the endeavour. The interaction with the service providers is co-ordinated by the CSS
business unit.
CSS act as the back fffice for the participating CFIs and perform the following tasks for the participating CFIs.
Reconciliations, Batch Processing, up to 16 reports that enable CFIs to comply with the regulatory requirements.
Pillar 3: National Payment System Integration
The NPS is an integral part of the offering to the Co-operative Banking Sector. The Central Support Services will manage
the NPS product on behalf of the CFIs. The daily reconciliations, Liquidity and Card Management will be done by CSS.

4.4 The progress made so far
The number of accounts on the banking platform has grown. The steady upward trend on the number of accounts on
the system coupled with the increase in transaction processing augur well for system adoption. The system and the CSS
has laid the foundation for the cooperative banking sector to find their rightful place in the South African banking sector.
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TOTAL ACCOUNTS ON THE BANKING PLATFORM

45000

40000

42
35000

30000

25000

20000

15000

10000

5000

0

Calendar Month

TOTAL MEMBERS ON THE BANKING PLATFORM

25000

20000

15000

10000

5000

0

Calendar Month

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY
PROGRAMME
TECHNICAL IMPLEMENTATIONS AND CFI SYSTEM USAGE
1

Imvelo

2

Kladies

3

YWBN

4

Boikago

5

Motswedi

6

Kuvhanganyani

7

Bakenberg

8
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9
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11
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13
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14

MMK

14.29%

Live

85,71%

85,71%
Initiated

14,29%
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SAMWU

Kleinfontein
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8

9
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Total

CFI Name

Item
no.

2511

0

0

0
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220

1417

385

14

56
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6
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4523

0

0

1605

5

381

1791
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0

38

8

6

142
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0

0

1350

5

393

1737

2318

0
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371

6

142

Jun-18

5410

0

371

0

57

216

1875

2412

0

281

24

3

171

Jul-18

4765

0

0

0

23

278
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2149

0
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16

5

164

4886

0

0

0

0

235

2097

1766

0
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164

10

129
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0
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0
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2063
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0

281

0

6
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0

0
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0
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0

3
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3633

0

850

0

0
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1841
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0

261

2

9
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0

0

0

0

208
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6

0

316

12

29

0

Jan-19

4561

1722

53

0

0

124

1844

499

0

238

0

32

49

2938

0

215

15

32

150

2021
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0

212

0

23
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Feb-19 Mar-19
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1722

4203

171

2054
50432

27
277

241

2890
322

1891

22696

3329

1

259

3113

1005

58
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14

12

138

12056
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National Payment System
The appointment of a banking partner has been completed. The contractual elements are being finalised in order to
commence with the project. It is envisaged that the work will commence in quarter 1 of the 2019/-20 financial year. The
protracted procurement process created delays in the introduction of a Debit Card Product integrated into the NPS. The
2019/20 financial year will see the pilot sites identified and onboarded.
The highlights for the Central Support Services in the year under review:
• The appointment for ABSA bank as the banking Partner, work will commence in the new financial year.
• The onboarding of South African Municipal Workers’ Union (SAMWU) Savings and Credit Co-operative (SACCO) onto
the system.
• Understanding of the CFI management information on credit allowed the team to advise the CFI to manage its loan
book differently. Issuing fewer long-terms loans and concentrating more on short-term loans to reduce risk and
enhance liquidity.
• Perserverence paid off with the system usage increasing, albeit tentatively.
Challenges for the Central Support Services in the year under review:
The sector is still being professionalised and modernised. Full adoption of systems and understanding of daily processing
to derive optimal benefit of a core banking system are imperative to the success and the required trust in the cooperative
banking sector. To achieve this the operational discipline of the sector must improve.

45

46

Actual
achievement
2015/2016

3

2

Performance
indicator

Number of
CFIs trained in
preparation for
implementation
of the banking
platform system

Number of CFIs
using the banking
platform system

10

10

Actual
achievement
2016/2017

10

3

Actual
achievement
2017/2018

15

2

Planned
target
2018/2019

Strategic Objective: An enhanced operational capability in the CFI sector

12

0

Actual
achievement
2018/2019

-3

-2

Deviation
from
planned
target for
2018/2019

Not Achieved
Completed 14 technical implementations.
Of the 14, one CFI opted not to use the
system, another CFI was subsequently
deregistered, one CFI becoming insolvent
precluded completion of onboarding.
One CFI refunded participation fee,
subsequently voluntary deregistration.
Two CFIs starting to use the system with
full CSS support. Eight CFIs used banking
platform unaided meaning no perputual
on-site support. DRDLR is addressing issues
raised by CFI. One CFI is in the process of
reviewing the business model used. One
more CFI used the system on a limited basis
amid internal administrative issues.

Not achieved
No CFIs were approved for registration
between October 2018 and March 2019,
due to the changes in legislation. Therefore
no new CFIs could be on-boarded onto the
banking platform.

Comment on variances
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-

-

Number of CFIs
integrated into the
NPS

Number of reports
provided per
CFI for CFIs to
support operational,
financial and
regulatory reporting

10

-

Actual
Actual
achievement achievement
2015/2016
2016/2017

Performance
indicator

16

0

13

3

Actual
Planned
achievement target
2017/2018

Strategic Objective: An enhanced operational capability in the CFI sector

19

0

+6

-3

Overachieved
Deliverable under control of
CSS. Created more reports as the
understanding of CFIs improved, it
will assist CFIs both in managing the
business and to compile regulatory
reports.

The new board members needed
time to understand the intricacies of
acquiring a banking partner.

Due to board member resignations
and end of term of office the board
could not quorate, and as such the
scheduled board meeting could not
sit to approve the appointment of the
banking partner.

Not Achieved
Protracted delays in securing a willing
and suitable banking partner.

Performance Actual achievement Comments on variances
indicator
2015/2016
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Number of CFIs trained in preparation for implementation of the banking platform system
Not Achieved: No CFIs were approved for registration between October 2018 and March 2019, due to the changes in
legislation. Therefore no new CFIs could be onboarded onto the banking platform.
Number of CFIs using the banking platform system
Not Achieved: The indicator is not achieved due to no additional CFIs coming through the pipeline, as well as one
insolvency and one opting not to use the system. CBDA agreed to refund the participation fee to a smaller CFI that was
non-performing.
Completed 14 technical implementations. Of the 14, one CFI opted not to use the system subsequently deregistered,
one CFI becoming insolvent precluded completion of onboarding. One CFI refunded participation fee, subsequently
voluntary deregistration. Two CFIs starting to use with full CSS support. Eight CFIs used banking platform unaided
meaning no perpetual on-site support. One CFI remains problematic and used system on a limited basis. The Department
of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR) is also assisting with addressing issues raised. One CFI is in the process of
reviewing the business model and has used the system on a limited basis.
Number of CFIs integrated into the National Payment System
Not Achieved: Due to board member resignations and end of term of office the board could not quorate, and as such
the scheduled board meeting could not sit to approve the appointment of the banking partner. The new board members
needed time to understand the intricacies of acquiring a banking partner. Protracted delays in securing a willing and
suitable banking partner.

48

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY
PROGRAMME
Number of reports provided for CFIs to support operational, financial and regulatory reporting
Nineteen reports are provided to CFIs:
ID

REPORT NAME

REPORT FREQUECY

MANUAL/ AUTO

SYSTEM (SOURCE)

001

CFI Trial Balance (Extract)

Monthly

Manual

Pastel

002

CFI Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract)

Monthly

Manual

Pastel

003

CFI Statement of Financial Position (Extract)

Monthly

Manual

Pastel

004

CFI Per Product Total

Monthly

Manual

Banking System MIS

005

CFI Information Completeness

Monthly

Manual

Banking System MIS

006

Mandatory Shares CFI (Client Balances)

Monthly

Manual

Banking System MIS

007

Member Account Statements

Monthly

Automated

Banking System MIS

008

CFI Summary Analysis (Product Totals)

Monthly

Manual

Banking System MIS

009

Daily Cash Management

Daily

Automated

Banking System

010

Loan Delinquency

Monthly

Automated

Banking System

011

CFI Demographics

Quarterly

Manual

Banking System MIS

012

CFI Demographics Graphical Depiction

Quarterly

Manual

Banking System MIS

013

CFI Age Analysis

Quarterly

Manual

Banking System MIS

014

CFI Age Analysis Graphical Depiction

Quarterly

Manual

Banking System MIS

015

Audit File

Monthly

Manual

CFI Records

016

CFI Transacting History

Monthly

Manual

Banking System

017

New Quick Loans for the Month

Monthly

Manual

Banking System

018

New Personal Loans for the Month

Monthly

Manual

Banking System

019

New Secured Loans for the Month

Monthly

Manual

Banking System

Overachieved: The overachievement in the reports provided to CFIs is due to the fact that the reports are under the
control of the CSS. The accuracy of the reports is a function of the processing of the respective CFIs. Operational discipline
in these entities will ensure accurate reporting.
Strategy to overcome areas of under performance
The CSS skills level has grown and lessons learnt have enabled the unit to onboard CFIs quicker, with improved accuracy.
The project approach evolved from a system implementation to a business transformation approach. It is, however, noted
that the challenges around the integration with the NPS early on precluded the targets being met. The behaviour of CFIs
not to participate in the system due to internal administration issues, as well as enhanced sight of the state of affairs at
the CFI, has an impact on achieving full usage of the system. Strategic imperatives such as the vision to create a National
Cooperative Bank will assist to alleviate the behaviour, not to record all business on the system.
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2018/19
Programme

Corporate Services
Supervision
Capacity Building
Central Support Services

Subtotal

Budget

2017/18

Actual
expenditure

(Over)/Under
expenditure

Budget

Actual
expenditure

(Over)/Under
expenditure

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

5 832

11 677

(5 845)

6 078

13 803

(7 725)

-

-

-

5 617

5 700

(83)

9 823

11 546

(1 723)

7 929

13 976

(6 047)

13 595

7 614

5 981

18 935

7 718

11 217

29 250

30 837

(1 587)

38 559

41 197

(2 638)

Add:

Capital Expenditure

391

93

298

356

295

61

Interest Capitalised

100

137

(37)

100

130

(30)

29 741

31 067

(1 326)

39 015

41 622

(2 607)

Total

Corporate Services
Over expenditure of 100% relates to the in-kind service of R6 502 000 provided by the National Treasury for office space,
parking facilities, office furniture and provided services towards internal audit, enterprise management, legal, supply chain
management, finance, information technology (IT), cleaning and communication.
Capacity Building
The 18% over expenditure related to funds received from the stakeholder, BANKSETA, for capacity building initiatives and
programmes. Training interventions such as risk, compliance, audit, etc., mentorship and coaching to CFIs.
Central Support Services
The 44% underspending is attributed to stakeholder funds not received resulting in the planned activities not achieved.
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2018/2019
Sources of
revenue

Estimate

2017/2018

Actual
amount collected

(Over)/Under
collection

Estimate

Actual
amount
collected

(Over)/Under
collection

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

19 883

19 883

-

19 275

19 275

-

Grant income

9 458

5 906

3 552

19 221

9 789

9 432

Service in kind

-

6 502

(6 502)

-

7 104

(7 104)

Transfers

Services rendered
Interest income
Other income
Total

-

2

(2)

7

13

(6)

400

529

(129)

512

807

(295)

-

13

(13)

-

601

(601)

29 741

32 835

(3 094)

39 015

37 589

( 426)

The primary source of revenue is transfers from National Treasury which are insufficient to achieve CBDA’s strategic
mandate.
Grant funds are additional funding sourced from different stakeholders to supplement the transfer funds. In the 2018/19
financial year, grant funding was received from BANKSETA for capacity building intiatives and programmes.
The grant funding has decreased over the past years due to agreements not in line with CBDA’s strategic objective.
Services rendered are application and registration fees for representative bodies.
Interest income is for funds invested in the Corporation for Public Deposits which has decreased over the years due to utilisation
for the banking system and CSS Unit. It also includes interest from operational bank accounts with First National Bank.
Other income increased relates to sale of assets that were fully depreciated to employees of CBDA.
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1.

INTRODUCTION

The CBDA is a public entity established in terms of the Co-operative Banks Act (2007) and listed under Schedule 3A of the
PFMA as amended. Treasury regulations impose certain statutory and regulatory requirements on the CBDA.

2. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES
The Portfolio Committee on Small Business Development invited CBDA to a presentation on 14 November 2018. The
Committee received briefings on the roles played in cooperatives development by the National Apex Cooperative of South
Africa (NACSA); National Cooperative Association of South Africa (NCASA); South African National Apex Cooperative (SANACO).
As much as CBDA was invited but due to a number of organisations making presentations, CBDA never got the chance
to present.

3. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY
In the period under review, and in terms of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations, the CBDA has submitted to the executive
authority its Strategic and Annual Performance Plans (APPs) for 2018/19, Quarterly Reports for 2018/19, and the Annual
Report and Financial Statements for 2018/19.

4. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/BOARD
Introduction
The reports touch on the financial constraints experienced by the CBDA, and its inadequate resourcing over the years.
The board of the CBDA is independent. The chairperson and the board of directors of the CBDA are appointed by the Minister of
Finance, in terms of Section 58 of the Co-operative Banks Act (2007). The board is the Accounting Authority of the CBDA and must
fulfil certain duties and responsibilities as provided for in the Co-operative Banks Act (2007), the PFMA and Treasury Regulations.
The Deputy Chairperson, Mr Jeffrey Ndumo, has been acting as the Chairperson in the year under review. Mr Desmond Golding
who was appointed by the Minister of Finance as the Chairperson of the board has been on special leave in the year under
review. The Minister approved the appointment of five new board members and re-appointed three board members. Ms Gill
Raine resigned from her position as a board member in the year under review.

The role of the board is as follows
The roles and responsibilities of the board are enshrined in the Board Charter, which is reviewed as and when required.

Board Charter
The board reviews changes and approves the agency’s policies as and when required, in line with the practices of the
agency. The Acting Chairperson has played a key role in ensuring that the board is independent and makes sound
decisions for the organisation. Although there have been new appointments and replacements to the board, it was still
able to execute its duties as prescribed in the Board Charter.

53

54

Designation
(in terms of
the Public
Entity Board
structure)

Chairperson

Deputy
Chairperson

Name

Mr Desmond
Golding1

Mr Jeffrey Ndumo

Reappointed
23 November
2018

Reappointed
16 October 2017

Date appointed

4.1 Composition of the board

n/a

n/a

Date
resigned

Masters of Arts
MA International Relations
and Political Studies
BA (Honours) International
Relations and Political
Studies
Certificate in Finance (in
progress)
Executive Course in
Globalisation and
Environment; Labour
Economics and Market
Policy; Public Financial
Management for Nonfinancial Managers;
Co-operative Policy and
Legislation; Social and
Solidarity Economy

LLM Banking
MA International Relations
Finance for Senior Executives
Postgraduate Dipl.
Macroeconomics

Qualifications

Politics;
International
Relations;
Cooperative
Development;
Economics
and Policy
Development.

Banking,
Macroeconomics.
International
Relations.

Area of expertise

n/a

n/a

Board
directorships
(List the
entities)

n/a

n/a

Other
committees
or task teams
(e.g: Audit
Committee
/ Ministerial
Task Team)

2/5

0/5

No. of
meetings
attended
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Designation
(in terms of
the Public
Entity Board
structure)

Member

Member

Member

Name

Ms Gillian Raine2

Dr Nomfundo
Ngwenya

Ms Pumla Ncapayi

23 November
2018

4 June 2018

Reappointed
4 June 2018

Date appointed

n/a

n/a

26 July
2018

Date
resigned

Masters in Business
Administration (MBA) in
Progress
BCom Degree
Diploma in Trade Law &
Policy

PhD: International Studies
MSc: Politics of the World
Economy

BA
BA (Honours) (Cum laude)
(Economics, Statistics and
Mathematics)
MA
IIMP
Fellow of the Institute of
Financial Markets
FAIS

Qualifications

Policy and Strategy
Development
Leadership Support;
International
Relations.

Develop Group`s
Business Strategy
Manage Business
Relationships
Project
Management;
International
Relations.

Senior Policy
Advisor, Association
of Savings and
Investment SA,
Structured Funding,
Syndicated and
Bilateral Loans,
Risk Management,
UAL Bond Trading,
Economist, Credit
Pricing Models.

Area of expertise

n/a

Sibambene
Coal
Inkhanyeti
Group
NXN Analytics
Ntsele Global
(and its
subsidiaries)
Phuma
Phambili
Engineering

Non-executive
Directorship
Aluwani

General
Diversified
Investment
Portfolio –
no strategic
interests

Board
directorships
(List the
entities)

n/a

Committee

(HR & R)

Remuneration

Resources and

of the Human

Chairperson

n/a

Task Team)

Other
committees
or task teams
(e.g: Audit
Committee
/ Ministerial

4/5

3/5

0/5

No. of
meetings
attended
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Designation
(in terms of
the Public
Entity Board
structure)

Member

Member

Member

Name

Mr Luyanda Ntuane

Ms Nokonwaba
Shwala

Ms Mpho Mosing

4 June 2018

4 June 2018

23 November
2018

Date appointed

n/a

n/a

n/a

Date
resigned

Masters Degree in Public
Management
LLB Honours Degree

Master of Business
Leadership
Executive Leadership
Programme
Management Advancement
Programme

Masters in Information
Technology
Bachelor of Commerce
(Economics & IT)

Qualifications

n/a

Board
directorships
(List the
entities)

Policy Development n/a
Monitoring &
Evaluation
Liquor Registration
and Licensing;
Economic
Development

HR Specialist
n/a
Executive Human
Capital
Policy Development

IT Engineering
Project
Management
IT Infrastructure
IT Network

Area of expertise

n/a

Member of
the HR & R
Committee

n/a

Other
committees
or task teams
(e.g: Audit
Committee
/ Ministerial
Task Team)

2/5

4/5

4/4

No. of
meetings
attended
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Designation
(in terms of
the Public
Entity Board
structure)

Member

Member

Acting
Managing
Director

Name

Mr Velile Pangwa

Ms Ria de Vos3

Ms Nomadelo Sauli

1 May 2018

14 December
2017

23 November
2018

Date appointed

31 May
2019

1 June
2019

n/a

Date
resigned

International Credit Union
Development Educator
(ICUDE) WOCCU
Postgraduate Diploma Info
Science
Bachelor of Arts Degree
Senior Secondary Teachers
Diploma

MA Degree
BA (Honours)

South African Institute of
Chartered Accountants
(SAICA), Independent
Regulatory Board of
Auditors (IRBA).
Chartered Acountant (CA)
SA
BCom Honours
(Accounting)
Institution: University of
Natal

Qualifications
Other
committees
or task teams
(e.g: Audit
Committee/
Ministerial
Task Team)

n/a

Workstream

CBDA/PA CFI

n/a

ANF CA(SA) INC n/a

Board
directorships
(List the
entities)

Cooperative Banking n/a
Policy and Strategy
Development
Training and
Development

Policy Analysis
Rural Enterprise
and Industrial
Development

Planning and
Monitoring the
Audit
Preparing Financial
Statement
Reviewing
of Financial
Statements;
Budgets/Financial
Management

Area of expertise

5/5

3/5

4/4

No. of
meetings
attended
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Minister’s Representative
Ms Olaotse
Matshane Chief
Director: Financial
Markets and
Stability4

Minister’s
Representative

4 June
2018

n/a

MSC Economics

Economics, Taxations, Co-

BCom ( Honours)

operative Banking, Project

Economics

Management

n/a

n/a

3/5

Certificate in
Taxation; Advanced
Project Management

1 Mr Desmond Golding who is the Chairperson was on special leave in the year under review.
2. Ms Gill Raine resigned as a board member in the year under review.
3. Ms Ria de Vos resigned as a board member in the new financial year.
4. Ms Olaotse Matshane resigned as the Managing Director of the CBDA and was appointed by National Treasury as Chief Director: Financial Markets and
Stability. In her new capacity she was appointed as the Minister’s representative.

4.2. Subcommittees
Through its committees, the CBDA board is able to carry out its responsibilities and duties properly. Each committee acts
in accordance with its charter and is chaired by an independent non-executive director.
Committee

No. of meetings held

No. of members

Name of members

Stabilisation Committee 1

0

9

Mr J Ndumo (Chairperson) (DSBD)
Ms P Masemola (Deputy Chairperson)
Ms O Matshane (MD)
Mr M Zama (SARB)
Mr N Mangoyi (NT)
Mr Rector Rapoo (CIPC)
Mr A Dirks ( SEFA)
Ms Z July (Independent Sector
Representative)
Mr A Soma (Independent Sector
Representative)

Audit Committee

5

7

Ms O Matloa(Chairperson)
Mr L Mangquku(Member)*
Mr C de Kock (Member)
Mr B Furstenburg(Member)
Ms A Badimo(Member)
Mr A Amod(Member)*
Ms Pumla Mzizi (Member)

58

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART C: GOVERNANCE

4. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/BOARD
Committee
Risk Committee

2

No. of meetings held

No. of members

Name of members

1

9

Mr L Mangquku(Chairperson)*
Ms Olaotse Matshane ( CBDA)
Ms L Padayachee (CBDA)
Mr L Giba (NT CRO)
Mr S Malatsi (NT ERM)
Mt J Phago (NT ICT)
Mr P Mathobo (NT ERM)
Ms K Gutshwa (NT ERM)
Mr L Seperepere (NT CAE)

Banking Platform Steering
Committee 3

0

13

Ms Olaotse Matshane (Chairperson)
Ms Nomadelo Sauli(CBDA)
Mr David De Jong(CBDA)
Mr Kobus Van Niekerk(CBDA)
Mr Alan Pugh-Jones(Consultant, CBDA)
Mr Edward Leach(Member)
Dr Tshegofatso Gape(Member)
Mr Thanda Madlala(Member)
Mr Jacob Gumbo(Member)
Mr Evans Maphenduka(Member)
Mr Sipho Marala(Member)
Mr Papi Maloka (NT)
Mr Thabang Mothoa(NT)

Human Resource and
Remuneration Committee

2

5

Ms Nomfundo Ngwenya (Chairperson)
Ms Nokonwaba Shwala (Member)
Mr Velile Pangwa (Member)
Mr Luyanda Ntuane (Member)

1.The Stabilisation Fund Committee did not have a meeting in the year under review the reason is provided in section B ( performance information).
2. NT decided to have an internal Risk Committee comprising of NT risk employees.
3. Banking platform project was closed in December 2017 hence there was no meeting in the period under review.
4. *Mr L Mangquku and *Mr A Amod’s terms of office came to an end in the year under review.

Remuneration of board members
Board members are remunerated at rates determined by the National Treasury, in terms of service benefit packages for
office-bearers of certain statutory and other institutions. Employees of national, provincial and local government, or
agencies and entities of government serving on public entities or institutions, are not entitled to additional remuneration.
The remuneration of board members is shown in Note 22 of the Annual Financial Statements (AFS).
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT
The board has assigned oversight of the CBDA risk management process to the Audit Committee. The oversight of risk
management is performed by the Risk Committee which reports to the Audit Committee through the Chairperson
of the Risk Committee. During the period under review, the Risk Committee Chairperson’s term of office expired in
September 2018. The National Treasury discussed a new approach to risk management whereby a workshop was held on
7 March 2019. The National Treasury decided to constitute an Internal Risk Committee for public entities with members
being constituted from NT employees. An interim Risk Committee has been established, chaired by the National Treasury
Director-General, during the first meeting on 18 April 2019.
The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Unit performed the risk assessment for year 2018/19. Unfortunately the governance
documents, terms of reference and revised enterprise risk management policy prepared still needs to be reviewed and
recommended by the new committee for approval by the board. The unit assisted management to review the risk register
quarterly to identify and monitor any emerging risk.

6. INTERNAL AUDIT
Internal audit provides assurance that the board maintains an effective and efficient internal control environment. The
responsibility for the oversight of internal financial and operational control rests with the board, with the assistance of
the Audit Committee. Internal audit is responsible for the CBDA’s controls in determining its effectiveness, efficiency
and economy. Internal audit is also responsible for improving and enhancing existing controls where appropriate and
assists with developing new recommendations. The CBDA makes use of the services of the Internal Audit unit of the
National Treasury.

Key activities and objectives of the internal audit
The objectives of the internal audit are aligned with Treasury Regulations. The internal audit function assists the Managing
Director (MD) of CBDA in achieving the objectives of the institution, evaluating and developing recommendations
for the enhancement or improvement of the governance processes, that objectives and values are established and
communicated; the accomplishment of CBDA performance goals are monitored; accountability is ensured; and corporate
values are preserved.
Internal audit is also responsible for maintaining efficient and effective controls by evaluating those controls in order to
determine their effectiveness and efficiency and by developing recommendations for enhancement or improvement.
The controls subject to evaluation should encompass the following:
(a) the reliability and integrity of financial and operational information;
(b) the effectiveness of operations;
(c) safeguarding of assets; and
(d) compliance with laws, regulations and controls.
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6. INTERNAL AUDIT
Audit conducted during the financial year
Five audit projects were planned in the period under review with three completed and two still to be finalised:
1. Performance audit on CBDA banking platform.
2. Consultative review of performance information.
3. Consulting review of irregular expenditure recorded for the 2016/17 and 2017/18 on the Annual Financial
Statements.
4. Review of risk management, fraud prevention strategy and ethics management.
5. Review of compliance with the Co-operative Banks Act (2007).
6. Domain controller review.
7. Service level management review - banking platform.
8. Disaster recovery site review.
The results of the report required management to implement an action plan to address the internal control deficiencies
which are monitored quarterly on the findings register.

7. AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is independent and fulfils an oversight role in governance by, among others, reviewing the integrity
of reporting, internal financial controls and the management of risk. Due to the size and nature of the CBDA, it shares the
National Treasury’s Audit and Risk Committees. The National Treasury remunerates the members of the Audit and Risk
Committees.

Key activities and objectives of the audit committee
The Audit Committee effectively oversees the processes, models and frameworks for managing risk across the CBDA in
order to:
• support the achievement of business objectives effectively and efficiently;
• safeguard the agency’s assets;
• support compliance with regulatory requirements, policies and procedures;
• ensure business continuity under normal, as well as under adverse operating conditions; and
• support the principles of good governance.
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BCom degree
Honours and CTA
CA (SA)

Master of Science (MSc) – Financial Management

Ms O Matloa

Mr B Furstenburg

Individual)

FAIS exams: RE1, RE3 & RE5 (Representative and Key

(Wits)

BCom Honours (1997) and BCom (1996)

University of the Witwatersrand (Wits) 1999

Master of Commerce (MCom) – Economics

University of London, UK 2006

Qualifications

Name

External

External

Internal or external

The table below discloses relevant information on the Audit Committee members

Member

Chairperson

If internal, position in the public entity

1 June 2016

1 March 2016

Date appointed
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7. AUDIT COMMITTEE

Internal or external
External

Qualifications

BSc. (Computer Science) (Wits), BSc. Honours (Computer
Science), (Wits)
Cobol Programming Diploma, Van Zyl and Pritchards and
Computer Users Council (CUC).
M.Sc Applied Science (Electrical Engineering), University of
Cape Town (UCT).
Project Management Diploma, Newport University
(Executive Education SA).
MBA, University of Wales.
Internet Governance, Diplomacy Foundation, Geneva,
Switzerland.
EuroPKI Workshop 2007, organised by Departament de
Ciences Matematiques i Informatica, Universitat de les Illes
Balears, Mallorca, Spain.
EuroCrypt 2009, organised by the Horst Görtz Institute for
IT-Security at the Ruhr-Universität, Faculty of Mathematics,
Bochum, Germany.
Crypto Security Training, South African Communications
Security Agency (SACSA), 2007/2008.
CISM (Certified Information Security Manager), Information
CGEIT (Certification in the Governance of the Enterprise IT),
Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA),
Illinois, USA. CISA (Certified Information Systems Auditor),
Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA),
Illinois, USA.
CRISC (Certified in Risk and Information Systems Control),
Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA),
Illinois, USA.
Harvard Mentor Programme Black Management Forum, 2014.

Name

Ms A Badimo

Member

If internal, position in the public entity
1 July 2015

Date appointed
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External

Bachelor of Commerce Degree
(BCom) Honours in Transport Economics (University of
South Africa (Unisa))
BCompt Honours CTA (Unisa)-1995
BBusSci Finance Honours (UCT) - 1992

Ms P Mzizi

(MBA),

Mr A Amod

(BCom),
Certificate of Internal Audit
(CGAP),
Certification in Risk Management Assurance (CRMA)

B-Compt Degree,
Bachelor of Accounting Science, CA (SA)
Masters in Business Leadership,
Bachelor of Commerce,
Advanced Company Law I & II

Mr L M
Mangquku

External

External

External

SAIPA – South African Institute of Professional Accountants,
Masters Degree in IT Auditing,
Honours Degree in Accounting,
Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA) – Global
Certification,
Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) – Global Certification

Mr C de Kock

Term of office ended

Internal or external

Qualifications

Name

Member

Member

Member

Member

If internal, position in the public entity

1 July 2016

1 July 2015

1 October 2018

1 February 2017

Date appointed
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8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
As a growing and developing agency, the CBDA implements various action plans to improve its policies, systems and
procedures, and to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and regulations. A Policy Register enables the CBDA to
identify policies and procedures to be reviewed and updated annually. A compliance checklist has been put in place to
ensure compliance with statutory requirements.

9. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
The CBDA has a fraud policy which complies with the National Treasury fraud prevention plan. Due to the size of the CBDA
the National Treasury ERM unit assists with compliance to the National Treasury policy and procedure. The CBDA uses the
National Anti-corruption Hotline for whistle-blowers to report fraud and corruption. The agency exercises a zero-tolerance
policy against fraud, and appropriate action will be taken in line with the policy.
CBDA employees are invited to attend events and workshops held by the National Treasury to communicate the plan and to
emphasise the importance of reporting fraud and corruption. On 9 December 2018, the National Treasury commemorates
Anti-Corruption Day with the theme: “Working together to enhance an environment where the rule of law prevails”.

10. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Guidelines on minimising conflict of interest are contained in the CBDA’s Code of Business Conduct. At every meeting,
board members are required to indicate, in writing, whether they have a conflict of interest in relation to any item on the
agenda, and to sign a Declaration of Interest form.

11. CODE OF CONDUCT
The board has approved a Code of Business Conduct for the CBDA, which all employees are required to sign upon
appointment to the agency. The CBDA expects all employees to live the values of the CBDA of passion, intergrity, respect,
commitment, excellence and confidentiality. Any violations of the code are reported to the Managing Director.

12. HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
ISSUES
As the CBDA is located on the National Treasury’s premises, it uses this department’s policies and procedures for health,
safety and environmental issues.

13. COMPANY/BOARD SECRETARY
This position is currently vacant due to financial constraints.
The CBDA is financed indirectly by taxes, through a transfer payment from the National Treasury. As a principle it makes no
donations or contributions for social responsibility.
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14. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The staff of CBDA has instituted a Charity Club Fund in their personal capacity into which monthly contributions are made
towards selected charitable drives in order to make a change in communities.

15. AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.
Audit Committee responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1) (a) of the Public
Finance Management Act (PFMA) (No. 1 of 1999) and Treasury Regulation 27.1.
The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee
Charter has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained
therein.
The effectiveness of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to provide cost-effective assurance that assets are safeguarded, and that liabilities
are effectively managed. As per the PFMA requirements, internal audit and the Auditor-General of South Africa evaluate
the internal controls for adequacy and effectiveness. This is achieved by assessing the effectiveness of risk management,
and the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to controls and internal processes. Based on
these evaluations, the Audit Committee considers the internal control environment as requiring improvement.
Internal audit
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the annual internal audit plan for 2018/19 and monitored performance of
the internal audit against this plan on a quarterly basis. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is
operating effectively and that it has addressed the risks specific to CBDA in conducting the reviews.
The following internal audit assignments were completed during the year under review and the committee will continue
to monitor the progress made against the corrective action plans implemented by management:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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Review of Enterprise-Wide Risk Management (ERM), Ethics Management & Fraud Prevention Co-operative Banks
Development Agency (CBDA).
Review of irregular expenditure.
Performance information audit (consulting).
Performance audit on CBDA banking platform.
Review of compliance mechanisms to monitor cooperative banks in terms of the Cooperative Banks Act (2007).
Domain controller review.
Service Level Management Review – banking platform.
Disaster recovery site review.
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The committee remains concerned with the lack of adequate funding which continues to challenge the ability of CBDA to
achieve its mandate, inadequate capacity within CBDA and the quality of performance information.
Risk management
Management is responsible for the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of governance, risk management,
the prevention and detection of fraud and internal controls. The internal audit was guided by the consolidated risk profile,
provided by the Enterprise Risk Management unit, critical audit areas and managements inputs in the formulation of its
three-year strategic and Annual Plans. The entity had a Risk Committee which was chaired by an independent member
who reported directly to the Audit Committee. In the current financial year, a decision was taken to review the structure
and composition of the committee to achieve effectiveness, however the process took longer than envisaged. The
committee met four times during the year under review. A risk register is updated annually to ensure that all the major
risks, including emerging risks facing the organisation, are effectively managed. The committee monitors management’s
implementation of the risk management plans on a quarterly basis.
Compliance with laws and regulations
The committee has reviewed the in-year management and quarterly reports submitted in terms of the PFMA and is
satisfied that no material deviations were noted. The committee also noted managements’ policies and procedures
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The committee has also taken note of concerns with the
entity’s non-compliance with some of the legislative requirements relating to procurement and contract management as
reflected in the audit report.
The committee remains concerned with the slow progress in the finalisation of irregular expenditure. The current status of
the implementation of the guideline(s) as issued by the National Treasury to resolve irregular expenditure is inadequate.
Evaluation of Financial Statements
The committee submits that it has:
•
•

Reviewed the 2018/19 unaudited and audited Annual Financial Statements prepared by CBDA.
Reviewed the 2018/19 draft and final Annual Report.

Auditor-General’s report
The Audit Committee has met and discussed with the Auditor-General of South Africa their audit report, to ensure that
there are no unresolved issues. We have also reviewed the management responses to the audit issues raised in the AuditorGeneral of South Africa’s management report and continuous oversight will be exercised to ensure that unresolved
findings are adequately addressed.
The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General of South Africa on the Annual Financial
Statements and is of the opinion that the Audited Annual Financial Statements should be accepted and read together
with the report of the Auditor-General.
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Appreciation
The Audit Committee expresses its sincere appreciation to the Executive Authority, Accounting Authority, Auditor-General
of South Africa, Management, and internal audit for their support and co-operation.

_________________
Pumla Mzizi
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
31 July 2019

68

2019
ANNUAL
REPORT

PART D:
HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART D: HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

1.

INTRODUCTION

a) Overview of HR matters at the public entity
The HR report summarises the employment-related activities of the CBDA from 1 April 2018 to March 2019.
HR responsibilities generally include the following:
• Recruitment and selection
• Remuneration
• Skills development
• Performance management (performance agreements, reviews and evaluation)
• Review and implementation of HR policies and governance.
b) Set HR priorities for the year under review and the impact of these priorities
Job grading of both new and existing positions, and group life implementation.
In the period under review, the CBDA made one new appointment and six contract extensions to fill the positions in the:
•

Corporate Services Unit: Two Internship contracts were extended for another one year; one Finance
Administrator three-year contract extension; one Temp Programme Administrator appointment.

•

Central Support Services Unit: Three contract extensions, two Data Captures and one Programme Administrator;
1 CFI Helpdesk Agent was promoted to CFI Support Team Leader.

Resignations and end of contracts in the period under review:
•
•

Corporate Services Unit: Two resignations relating to Managing Director of the CBDA and one Temp Programme
Administrator.
Central Support Services Unit: One end of contract CFI Helpdesk Agent.

c) Employee performance management framework
The Normalisation Committee finalised the 2017/18 performance assessments at its meeting in July 2018. The HR&R
Committee recommended performance bonuses, which the CBDA Board approved.
d) Employee wellness programmes
Employee wellness is an integral part of the HR function, as it not only promotes healthy living, but also enables CBDA staff
members to access guidance on work/life balance, debt counselling and substance abuse. Two employees were referred
for counselling through Siyaphila, the National Treasury’s wellness programme. With a limited budget, the CBDA relies on
the National Treasury to offer these services.
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1.

INTRODUCTION

e) Skills development and training
BANKSETA 2018 SME applications were approved, following the approved work place skills plan submission. Two
colleagues benefited, one from the Corporate Services Unit (Post Graduate Diploma in Public Policy Development) and
one from the Capacity Building Unit (Post Graduate Diploma in Risk Management).
CBDA funded two SAICA memberships.
f) Social events
The CBDA celebrated a range of social events that were organised by the CBDA Social Events Committee which is selffunded by employees (monthly contribution by staff members). To celebrate Mandela Day, CBDA staff went to Ntuthuko
Stimulation Centre in Soshanguve, a home for disabled and mentally challenged children and provided groceries,
bed mattresses, learning materials and weighing scales. In December CBDA hosted a self-funded Year-end Function at
Emthonjeni Countryside.
g) Future HR plans/goals
To ensure continuous achievement of the CBDA’s objectives, HR will focus on priorities identified by the HR&R Committee.
These include the review of the Recruitment and Selection Policy; Grievance Policy; Performance Management Policy;
Career Pathing/Succession Plan and Employee Benefits Policy.
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2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS
Personnel cost by programme
Programme/activity/objective

Total expenditure
for the entity
(R’000)

Personnel
expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel exp. as
a % of total exp.

No. of
employees

Average
personnel cost
per employee
(R’000)

Corporate Services

11 677

2 693

9%

5

539

Capacity Building

11 546

4 950

16%

7

707

7 614

4 145

13%

10

415

135

1%

2

68

11 923

39%

24

497

Central Support Services
Interns
TOTAL

30 837

Personnel cost by salary band
Level

Personnel
expenditure (R’000)

% of personnel exp. to
total personnel cost

No. of employees

Average personnel cost
per employee (R’000)

127

1%

1

-

Senior Management

2 276

19%

2

1 137

Professional Qualified

5 971

50%

6

853

Skilled

3 414

29%

13

263

Interns

135

1%

2

68

TOTAL

11 923

100%

24

497

Top Management

Performance Rewards 2017/18
Performance evaluations for the 2017/18 financial year were conducted between management and staff and performance
bonuses were paid in August 2018 from the bonus provision. For the year under review, the performance bonus provision
has been allocated.
The Normalisation Committee will convene in July 2019 to finalise the 2018/19 performance management cycle. It will
prepare a submission for recommendation by the HR&R Committee and approval by the CBDA board.
Performance Rewards
Programme/activity/objective

Performance rewards
provision (R’000)

Personnel expenditure
(R’000)

% of performance
rewards to total
personnel cost (R’000)

-

127

-

Senior Management

65

2 276

0.55%

Professional Qualified

176

5 971

1.48%

77

3 414

0.64%

Top Management

Skilled

72

Interns

-

135

TOTAL

318

11 923

2.67%
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Training Costs
As a public entity, the CBDA prides itself in developing and increasing the skills of its staff. During the period under review,
the agency continued to demonstrate commitment to the development of job-specific skills, based on performance
assessment, personal development plans and industry-related training.
CBDA staff attended the following conferences and training:
• Mzantsi Culture Value Assessment.
Training Costs
Personnel
expenditure (R’000)

Training
expenditure
(R’000)

Training
expenditure
as a % of
personnel
cost

No. of
employees
trained

Avg training
cost per
employee
(R’000)

Corporate Services

2 828

43

0.4

2

11

Capacity Building

4 950

44

0.4

2

9

Central Support Service

4 145

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

87

0.8

4

10

Programme//activity/
objective

Interns
TOTAL

11 923

Employment and vacancies
Programme/activity/objective

Corporate Services
Capacity Building

2018/2019
Approved
posts

2018/2019
No. of
employees

2018/2019
Vacancies

% of
Vacancies

5

6

7

2

7.7%

7

8

7

1

3.8%

12

10

10

3

11.5%

Interns

2

0

2

0

0

TOTAL

26

23

26

6

23%

Central Support Services

•
•

2017/2018
No. of
employees

Programme Administrators joined Corporate Services in the period under review.
Under Corporate Services there are two vacancies for 2018/19 for the MD position and a permanent Programme Administrator. The current total
headcount under 2018/19 (no. of employees) includes the two Temp Programme Administrators.

73

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART D: HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

2. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS
Programme/activity/objective

Top Management

•
•

2017/2018
No. of
employees

2018/2019
Approved
posts

2018/2019
No. of
employees

2018/2019 % of Vacancies
Vacancies

1

1

1

1

3.8%

Senior Management

3

2

2

0

-

Professional Qualified

13

6

6

0

-

Skilled

14

12

15

3

11.5%

Interns

2

-

2

0

-

TOTAL

33

21

26

4

15.3%

Programme Administrators joined Corporate Services in the period under review.
Under Corporate Services there are two vacancies for 2018/19 for the MD position and a permanent Programme administrator. The current total
headcount under 2018/19 (no. of employees) includes the two Temp Programme Administrators.

Employment changes
During the period under review, the CBDA made two new appointment to fill the position of:
•
•

One Temp Programme Administrator (Corporate Services Unit ).
CSS 2018/19 (no. of employees) includes the two Temporary Data Capturers and the Temp Programme
Administrators. The actual headcount is seven.
Salary Band

Employment at
beginning of period

Appointments

Terminations

Employment at
end of the period

Top Management

1

-

-

1

Senior Management

2

-

-

2

Professional Qualified

6

-

-

6

15

2

2

15

Semi-skilled

2

-

-

2

Unskilled

-

-

-

-

26

2

2

26

Skilled

Total
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Reasons for staff leaving
The CBDA Managing Director resigned for better prospects. One employee on a short-term contract (Temp Programme
Administrator) resigned due to receiving a long-term fixed contract.
The CBDA Managing Director position will be filled in the new financial year. The position of a Temp Programme
Administrator has been filled in the period under review.
Number

% of total no. of staff leaving

Death

-

-

Resignation

2

7.8%

Dismissal

-

-

Retirement

-

-

Ill Health

-

-

Expiry of Contract

1

3.8 %

Reason

Other

-

-

Total

3

11.6%

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action
Nature of disciplinary Action

Number

Verbal Warning

-

Written Warning

-

Final Written Warning

-

Dismissal

-

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status
The CBDA recognises its responsibility as a public entity to equalise opportunities for socio-economically and educationally
disadvantaged people, defined as Black (African, Indian and Coloured persons), women and the disabled.
As an organisation with a staff complement of fewer than 50, the CBDA is not required to meet the regulated quotas.
As the agency expands, however, it will endeavour to ensure that the African-Indian-Coloured ratios are maintained as
regulated. In doing so, the CBDA will help to develop and increase the skills of members of the formerly disadvantaged
population.
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Levels

MALE
African

Coloured

Indian

Current

Target

Current

Target

Current

Target

Current

Target

Top Management

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Senior Management

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

Professional Qualified

3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Skilled

4

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Semi-skilled

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unskilled

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

TOTAL

7

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

FEMALE

Levels
AFRICAN

COLOURED

INDIAN

WHITE

Current

Target

Current

Target

Current

Target

Current

Target

Top Management

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Senior Management

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Professional Qualified

2

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

11

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Semi-skilled

2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unskilled

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

17

-

-

1

-

-

-

Skilled

TOTAL

-

The CBDA had no disabled staff members during the period under review.
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REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR
Report of the auditor-general to Parliament on the Co-operative Banks
Development Agency
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
1.

I have audited the financial statements of the Co-operative Banks Development Agency set out on pages 90 to 137,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of financial performance,
statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement and statement of comparison of budget information with
actual information for the year then ended, as well as the notes to financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

2.

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Cooperative Banks Development Agency as at 31 March 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Principles (SA
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act 1 of
1999) (PFMA).

Basis for opinion
3.

I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of this auditor’s report.

4.

I am independent of the public entity in accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code), parts 1 and 3 of the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I
have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.

5.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of matters
6.

I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Irregular expenditure
7.

78

As disclosed in note 28 of the annual financial statements, the public entity incurred irregular expenditure
amounting to R1 883 000.00 as proper procurement processes were not followed.
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Restatement of corresponding figures
8.

As disclosed in note 32 of the annual financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2018 were
restated as a result of errors in the financial statements of the public entity at, and for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Responsibilities of Board for the financial statements
9.

The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Principles GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for such internal control as the accounting
authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

10. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the Co-operative Banks
Development Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure either
intends to liquidate the public entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements
11. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
12. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the annexure to
this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope
13. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance information
against predetermined objectives for selected programmes presented in the annual performance report. I
performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.
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14. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved performance
planning documents of the public entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the
performance indicators/ measures included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any
disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods
that may be included as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend to
these matters.
15. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the criteria
developed from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the
following selected programmes presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the year ended
31 March 2019:
Programmes

Pages in the annual performance
report

Programme 2 – Capacity Building

34 – 35

Programme 3 – Central Support Services

46 – 47

16. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented and
whether performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed further
procedures to determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed
the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.
17. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and reliability of the selected programmes are as follows:
Programme 2 – Capacity Building
18. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for this
programme.
Programme 3 – Central Support Services
Number of reports provided per CFI for CFIs to support operational, financial and regulatory reporting
19. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that clearly defined the predetermined source
information,evidence and method of collection to be used when measuring the actual achievement for the
indicator. This was due to a lack of technical indicator descriptions. I was unable to test whether the indicator was
well-defined by alternative means.
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Other matters
20. I draw attention to the matters below.
Achievement of planned targets
21. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 34 to 49 for information on the achievement of planned targets
for the year and explanations provided for the under and over achievement of a number of targets. This information
should be considered in the context of the material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported
performance information in paragraphs 18 and 19 of this report.
Adjustment of material misstatements
22. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material
misstatements were on the reported performance information of capacity building and central support services. As
management subsequently corrected only some of the misstatements, I raised material findings on the usefulness
and reliability of the reported performance information. Those that were not corrected are reported above.

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope
23. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material
findings on the compliance of the public entity with specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to
identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.
24. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows:
Annual financial statements, performance and annual report
25. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial
reporting framework and supported by full and proper records, as required by section 55(1) (a) and (b) of the PFMA.
Material misstatements identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statements relating to services in kind,
goods and services, related parties, and commitments were corrected resulting in the financial statements receiving
an unqualified opinion.
Expenditure management
26. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure amounting to R1 883 000 as
disclosed in note 28 to the annual financial statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The irregular
expenditure was as a result of non-compliance with applicable procurement legislation.
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Other information
27. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report. The other information does not include the financial statements, the auditor’s report
and those selected programmes presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in
this auditor’s report.
28. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and compliance
with legislation do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
29. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected programmes
presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
30. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Internal control deficiencies
31. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance information and
compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. The
matters reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the opinion, the
findings on the Annual Report and the findings on compliance with legislation included in this report.
Leadership
32. The accounting authority did not provide assurance by adequately reviewing the financial statements and annual
performance report before submission for auditing.
Financial and performance management
33. Management did not in all instances prepare regular, accurate and complete financial and performance reports that
are supported and evidenced by reliable information due to insufficient review processes and procedures.
34. Management did not in all instances review and monitor compliance with applicable laws an regulations in the
procurement of goods and services.
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Other reports
35. I draw attention to the following engagements conducted by various parties that had, or could have, an impact
on the matters reported in the public entity’s financial statements, reported performance information, compliance
with applicable legislation and other related matters. These reports did not form part of my opinion on the financial
statements or my findings on the reported performance information or compliance with legislation.
36. There are currently three matters under investigation by the Office of the Accountant General of National Treasury.
The matters are possible collusion, fruitless and wasteful expenditure and poor leadership and unethical practices.

Pretoria
31 July 2019
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1.

As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed on reported
performance information for selected programmes and on the public entity’s compliance with respect to the
selected subject matters.

Financial statements
2.

In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also:

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
public entity’s internal control

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the board of directors, which constitutes accounting authority.

•

conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Co-operative Banks Development Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on
the financial statements. My conclusions are based on the information available to me at the date of this auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause a public entity to cease continuing as a going concern

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation

Communication with those charged with governance
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3.

I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my
audit.

4.

I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a
bearing on my independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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Country of incorporation and domicile

South Africa

Legal form of entity

Schedule 3A

Nature of business and principal activities

Providing support and assistance to Co‑operative Financial Institutions
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Board is required by the Public Finance Management Act (1999) (PFMA), to maintain adequate accounting records
and is responsible for the content and integrity of the Annual Financial Statements and related financial information
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Annual Financial Statements fairly present the
state of affairs of the CBDA as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period
then ended. The Auditor‑General is engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements and
was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting
Principles (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.
The Annual Financial Statements are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.
The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the CBDA
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Board to meet these
responsibilities, management sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or misstatement in a
cost‑effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework,
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls
are monitored throughout the CBDA and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring
the CBDA’s business is conducted in a manner that is above reproach in all reasonable circumstances. The focus of risk
management in the CBDA is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the CBDA’s
environment. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the CBDA endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that
appropriate controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.
The Board is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual
financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or errors.
The Board has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2020 and, in the light of this review and
the current financial position, it is satisfied that the entity has access to adequate resources to continue in operational
existence over the medium term.
The CBDA is largely dependent on the National Treasury for continued funding of operations. The Annual Financial
Statements are prepared on the basis that the CBDA is a going concern. The Board is satisfied that CBDA has access to
resources to continue in operational existence over the medium term. The National Treasury has neither the intention nor
the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of the CBDA operations.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
In discharging its oversight responsibilities, the Board is supported by the Audit and Risk Committees.
The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 90 to 137 which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the CBDA board on 31 May 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Mr J Ndumo
Deputy Chairperson

Ms N Sauli
Acting Managing Director

Date: 31 July 2019

Date: 31 July 2019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
NOTE(S)

2019

2018
RESTATED*

R’000

R’000

Assets
Current Assets
Receivables from exchange transactions

3

20

2

Receivables from non‑exchange transactions

4

1,658

3,094

29

8

7

5

9,958

3,598

11,644

6,701

Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Non‑current assets
Property, plant and equipment

6

148

340

Intangible assets

7

88

528

236

868

11,880

7,569

8

1,591

4,143

9

5,590

541

10

318

502

Total Liabilities

7,499

5,186

Net Assets

4,381

2,383

Stabilisation fund

1,975

1,838

Accumulated surplus

2,406

545

4,381

2,383

Total Assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables
Grants
Provisions

Reserves

TOTAL NET ASSETS
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
NOTE(S)

2019

2018
RESTATED*

R’000

R’000

529

807

2

13

13

1

544

821

19,883

19,275

6,502

7,104

5,906

9,789

-

600

32,291

36,768

13

32,835

37,589

14

(11,923)

(17,166)

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Interest received
Services rendered
Other income

Revenue from non‑exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Transfers
Service in kind
Grants

9

Other income

TOTAL REVENUE
Expenditure
Employee cost
Depreciation and amortisation

(509)

(515)

Impairment loss

31

(216)

-

Operating lease

30

(37)

(36)

Goods and services

15

(18,152)

(23,480)

(30,837)

(41,197)

1,998

(3,608)

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
STABILISATION
FUND

ACCUMULATED
SURPLUS

TOTAL NET
ASSETS

R’000

R’000

R’000

1,708

3,958

5,666

-

325

325

1,708

4,283

5,991

Deficit for the year

-

(3,608)

(3,608)

Transfer to reserve

130

(130)

-

Total changes

130

(3,738)

(3,608)

1,838

545

2,383

-

1,998

1,998

Transfer to reserves

137

(137)

-

Total changes

137

1,861

1,998

1,975

2,406

4,381

Opening balance as previously reported – 01 April 2017
Correction of prior period errors

Restated* balance as at 01 April 2017
Changes in net assets

Balance at 01 April 2018* restated
Changes in net assets
Profit for the year

Balance at March 31, 2019
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
NOTE(S)

2019

2018
RESTATED*

R’000

R’000

19,883

19,275

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Transfer
Services rendered

3

11

7,097

8,080

Interest received

529

807

Other income

238

163

27,750

28,336

(12,107)

(17,250)

(9,190)

(16,959)

(21,297)

(34,209)

17

6,453

(5,873)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

6

-

(211)

Purchase of intangible assets

7

(93)

(84)

(93)

(295)

6,360

(6,168)

3,598

9,766

9,958

3,598

Grants

Payments
Employee costs
Suppliers

Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash flows from investing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

5
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET
AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
FINAL BUDGET

ACTUAL
AMOUNTS ON
COMPARABLE
BASIS

DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN
FINAL BUDGET
AND ACTUAL

R’000

R’000

R’000

400

529

129

REFERENCE

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Interest received
Services rendered

-

2

2

Other income

-

13

13

400

544

144

19,883

19,883

-

Total revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from non‑exchange transactions
Transfer

-

6,502

6,502

1

Grants – Capacity Building

4,112

5,906

1,794

2

Grants – Central Support Services

5,346

-

(5,346)

2

Total revenue from non‑exchange
transactions

29,341

32,291

2,950

Total revenue

29,741

32,835

3,094

Services in‑kind
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET
AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
FINAL BUDGET

ACTUAL
AMOUNTS ON
COMPARABLE
BASIS

DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN
FINAL BUDGET
AND ACTUAL

R’000

R’000

R’000

REFERENCE

Expenditure
(15,722)

(11,923)

3,799

Board fees

(161)

(92)

69

Advertising

(245)

(34)

211

Auditors remuneration

(400)

(979)

(579)

4

Depreciation and amortisation

(115)

(509)

(394)

5

(20)

(21)

(1)

(1,315)

(5,401)

(4,086)

(45)

(37)

8

(3,150)

(2,380)

770

7
8

Employee cost

Bank charges
Consulting and professional fees
Operating lease
Hosting fees

3

6

(93)

(71)

22

Communication cost

(125)

(37)

88

Training and development

(250)

(86)

164

9

(6,918)

(4,639)

2,279

10

Printing and stationery

Travel and subsistence
Venue and facilities
Catering
Assets less than R5,000
Staff welfare
Subscription and membership fees
Rental cost

-

(1,328)

(1,328)

11

(16)

(22)

(6)

12

(5)

-

5

(3)

(1)

2

(10)

-

10

(132)

(2,749)

(2,617)

Computer expenses

-

(7)

(7)

Office furniture

-

(305)

(305)

Impairment loss

-

(216)

(216)

Industry charges

(525)

-

525

(29,250)

(30,837)

(1,587)

Surplus/(Deficit) before capital expense and
interest

491

1,998

1,507

Interest capitalised

100

137

37

Intangible assets

391

93

(298)

-

1,768

1,768

Total expenditure

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

13
13
14
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REFERENCE
1.

Service in kind is received from the National Treasury for providing office space, parking facilities, office furniture and
provide services towards internal audit, enterprise risk management, legal, supply chain management, finance, IT, facilities
(cleaning) and communication.

2.

CBDA sources additional funding from stakeholders to carry out it planned activities. These funds are not secure therefore it
is dependent on the conditions of the agreement being in line with CBDA mandate.

2.

Employee cost underspending is due to vacant positions not yet filled which is dependent on the appointment of the
partner bank for the banking platform.

4.

Audit fees have been under-budgeted due to prioritising funds for core activities. Request to obtain additional funds from
the National Treasury was unsuccessful. Saving and reduction on operational activities would cover this expense.

5.

Depreciation is a non-cash item which was under-budgeted. The exceeding of the budget is mainly due to amortising the
online portal software and renewals of licenses for CaseWare and Pastel accounting.

6.

Consulting fees have exceeded the budget due to additional services required for customisation of the banking system. It
also includes service in kind from the National Treasury for internal audit, enterprise risk management, legal, supply chain
management, financial processing and payment, IT and communication services.

7.

Hosting fees underspending would cover consulting expenses incurred for the customisation of the banking system.

8.

Printing and stationery saving are due to management decision for newsletters and annual report to be distributed
electronically rather than printing hard copies. These saving assisted in covering for line items under-budgeted for.

9.

BANKSETA subsidised funds for bursary to CBDA employees therefore resulting in saving.

10. Travel and subsistence activities had to be reduced due to cash flow constraints.
11. Venues and facilities cost is incurred for stakeholder activities funded by BANKSETA which is a conditional grant. CBDA
does not budget for venue due to placing reliance on using government facilities at no cost or getting assistance from
stakeholders.
12. Catering budget exceeded due to an increase in governance meetings being held.
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AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
13. Rental cost was budgeted for the Central Support Services unit in anticipation that the function would be transferred to the
CFIs sector and become an independent organisation. The expense reflected is in kind service from the National Treasury for
providing office space, parking facilities and office furniture.
14. Industry charges relates to fees paid to banking associations to participate in the National Payment System (NPS). No
expenses have been incurred due to the delay in the appointment of the banking partner for the integration into the NPS.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.

Basis of presentation

The Annual Financial Statements (AFS) have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board in
accordance with Section 122(3) of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). They are prepared in South African Rand (R).
These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting, in terms of which items
are recognised as assets, liability, net assets, revenue and expenses when they satisfy the recognition criteria for those
elements, which in all material aspect are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except where a change in
accounting policy has been recorded.
Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except where offsetting is either required or permitted by a
Standard of GRAP.
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these Annual
Financial Statements, are disclosed below.

1.1

Going concern assumption

These Annual Financial Statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the CBDA will continue to operate
as a going concern.

1.2

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non‑current assets that are held for use in the rendering of services or for
administrative purposes; and are expected to be used during more than one period.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired through a non‑exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.
Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non‑monetary asset or monetary assets, or
a combination of monetary and non‑monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the
acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.
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When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated
residual value.
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item

Depreciation method

Average useful life

Office equipment

Straight-line

5‑8 years

Computer equipment

Straight-line

3‑5 years

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of
another asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or
deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will
flow to the entity; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.
The CBDA assesses the probability of expected future economic benefits or service potential using reasonable and
supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist
over the useful life of the asset.
Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non‑exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is
measured at its fair value as at that date.
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Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.
An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset;
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not
provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful life.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.
Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values as follows:
Item

Depreciation method

Average useful life

Licenses

Straight-line

1 year

Computer software

Straight-line

3 years

1.4

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual
interest of another entity.
The CBDA measures a financial assets and financial liability initially at its fair value plus transaction cost that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
instruments are measured as set out below.

1.4.1 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, petty cash and deposit held in call and are stated at their fair value due
to their short‑term nature.

100

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.4.2 Receivables
Receivables are categorised as financial assets which include trade and other receivables from exchange and non‑exchange
transactions. Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the statement of financial performance within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable,
it is written off as bad debt in the statement of financial performance. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against operating expenses in the statement of financial performance.

1.4.3 Trade and other payables
The financial liabilities consist of trade payables. Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method, which is the initial carrying amount less payment plus interest.

1.4.4 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction. Liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date or at the forward rate determined
in forward exchange contracts. Exchange differences arising from translations are recognised in the statement of financial
performance in the period in which they occur.

1.5

Tax

The CBDA is exempted from income tax in terms of section 10(1) of the Income Tax Act (1962).

1.6

Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight‑line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease
asset or liability.

1.7

Impairment of cash‑generating assets

Cash‑generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means
that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.
Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).
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Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.
A cash‑generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets used with the objective of generating a commercial
return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets.
Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and income
tax expense.
Depreciation/(amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.
Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash‑generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
Useful life is either:
• the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or
• the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the entity.
Judgements made by management in applying the criteria to designate assets as cash‑generating assets or
non‑cash‑generating assets, are as follows:

1.8

Impairment of non‑cash‑generating assets

Cash‑generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means
that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.
Non‑cash‑generating assets are assets other than cash‑generating assets.

Identification
When the carrying amount of a non‑cash‑generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non‑cash‑generating asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the entity also tests a non‑cash‑generating intangible asset
with an indefinite useful life or a non‑cash‑generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually
by comparing it carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time
every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was
tested for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.
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Recognition and measurement
If the recoverable service amount of a non‑cash‑generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of financial performance.
When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the non‑cash‑generating asset
to which it relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP.
After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non‑cash‑generating asset is
adjusted in future periods to allocate the non‑cash‑generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if
any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

1.9

Employee benefits

Short‑term employee benefits
Short‑term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are due to be settled within
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service.
Short‑term employee benefits include items such as:
• wages and salaries;
• paid annual leave and paid sick leave where the compensation for the absences is due to be settled within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period in which the employees render the related employee service; and
• bonus, incentive and performance-related payments payable within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period in which the employees render the related service.
The CBDA recognises the expected cost of bonus, incentive and performance-related payments when the entity has a
present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic alternative but to make the payments.

1.10 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to
settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date.
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Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if
it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required,
to settle the obligation.
A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and
measured as a provision.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed.

1.11 Commitments
Items are classified as commitments when CBDA has committed itself to future transactions that will normally result in
the outflow of cash.
Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation are disclosed in a note to the financial
statements, if both the following criteria are met:
• contracts should be non‑cancellable or only cancelable at significant cost; and
• contracts should relate to something other than the routine, operation of business

1.12 Revenue from exchange transactions
An exchange transaction is one in which the CBDA receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Rendering of services
When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.
Services arise from the application of the approved tariff of charges is recognised when the relevant service is rendered by
applying the relevant gazetted tariff. This includes registration of support and representative organisations in the financial
co‑operative sector.
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Interest income
Revenue is recognised as interest accrued using the effective interest rate and is included under exchange revenue in the
statement of financial performance.

Other income
Revenue is recognised as other income when an agreement or obligation exist which is not part of normal business
operations.

1.13 Revenue from non‑exchange transactions
Non‑exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non‑exchange transaction, the CBDA
either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to
another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Transfers
Apart from services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.
The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and
satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.
Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Services in kind
Except for financial guarantee contracts, the entity recognises services in kind that are significant to its operations and/
or service delivery objectives as assets and recognise the related revenue when it is probable that the future economic
benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the assets can be measured reliably.
Where services in kind are not significant to the entity’s operations and/or service delivery objectives and/or do not satisfy
the criteria for recognition, the entity discloses the nature and type of services in kind received during the reporting period.

Grants
Grants are recognised when the definition of an asset is met and the recognition criteria of an asset is satisfied. Stipulation
on grants are a binding arrangement imposed on the use of a transferred asset by entities external to the CBDA. Stipulation
can either be in the form of conditions or in the form of restriction.
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Grants are recognised as revenue, except to the extent that the liability is also recognised. As the CBDA satisfies a present
obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from grants recognised as an asset, it reduces the
carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

1.14 Change in estimates and prior period errors
Change in estimates
As a result of the uncertainties inherent in delivering services, many items in financial statements cannot be measured
with precision but can only be estimated. Estimates involve judgment based on recently available, reliable information
and therefore an estimate may change as new information becomes known, circumstances change, or more experience
is obtained.
The entity recognises the effects of changes in accounting estimates prospectively, by including the effects in surplus or
deficit in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only, in the period of the change and future periods,
if the change affects both.

Prior period error
Prior period errors are omissions from and misstatements in the entity’s financial statements for one or more prior period.
These errors arise from a failure to use (or misuse of ) reliable information that was available when the financial statements
for those periods were authorised for issue and could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and considered in
the preparation and presentation of those financial statements. Such errors include the effect of mistakes in applying the
accounting policy, oversight or misinterpretation of facts.

1.15 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and could have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.
All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. When an investigation determines, a receivable will be
recognised against an employee who has been found to have incurred the fruitless and wasteful expenditure. In instances
where a receivable is not raised against an employee or the amount is irrecoverable, the Accounting Authority may write
off the debt. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure identified is disclosed in the note to the financial statement.

1.16 Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including:
(a) this act; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act (1968), or any regulations made in terms of the act; or
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.
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National Treasury instruction note 1 of 2018/19 which was issued in terms of sections 76(2) (e) and 76(4) (a) of the PFMA
give legal effect to the irregular expenditure framework requires the following (effective from 1 December 2018):
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned before year
end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure
checklist and lead schedule. In such an instance, no further action is required with the exception of updating the note to
the financial statements.
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which condonement is
being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure checklist and lead schedule. No further action is
required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.
Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following financial
year, the lead schedule and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the amount condoned.
Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not condoned by
the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure lead schedule.
If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account must be created if such a person is
liable in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the amount from the person concerned. If recovery is
not possible, the Accounting Officer or Accounting Authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose
such in the relevant note to the financial statements. The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly.
If the irregular expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must
remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial statements
and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.17 Budget information
CBDA is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisation (or equivalent), which
is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.
General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and used in
accordance with the legally adopted budget.
The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis and presented by economic classification linked to performance
outcome objectives. The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 01/4/2018 to 31/3/2019.
The Annual Financial Statements and the budget are on the same basis of accounting. A comparison with the
budgeted amounts for the reporting period has therefore been included in the statement of comparison of budget and
actual amounts.
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1.18 Related parties
The CBDA operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South
African government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in South
Africa, only entities within the national sphere of government are considered to be related parties.
Management is those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the CBDA, including
those charged with the governance of the CBDA in accordance with legislation, in instances where they are required to
perform such functions.
Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, management in its dealings with the CBDA.

1.19 Events after reporting date
Events after reporting date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date
and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:
• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting
date); and
• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non‑adjusting events after the reporting
date).
The CBDA will adjust the amount recognised in the financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date
once the event has occurred.
The CBDA will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate
cannot be made in respect of all material non‑adjusting events, where non‑disclosure could influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

1.20 Change in accounting policy
The accounting policy has been applied consistently. The CBDA will change the accounting policy if the change results in
the financial statements providing liable and more relevant information about the effects on transactions, other events or
conditions on the performance or cash flow.

1.21 Transfer of functions between entities not under common control
The acquirer accounts for transfer of functions between entities not under common control by recognising assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at their fair value at the date of transfer. Any difference between assets and liabilities recognised
and consideration paid, if any, is recognised in the statement of financial performance.
The acquiree accounts for transfer of functions between entities not under common control by applying the existing
standards of GRAP. The assets and liabilities are derecognised at their carrying amounts at the date of transfer. Any
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difference between the assets and liabilities derecognised and consideration received, if any, is recognised in the statement
of financial performance.
Transfer of function between entities not under common shall disclose information that enable users of its financial
statement to evaluate the nature and effect of the transfer of function that occurs.

1.22 Comparative figures
When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual Financial Statements is amended, prior period comparative
amounts are restated, and the nature and reason for the reclassification are disclosed. Where material accounting errors
have been identified in the current financial year, the correction is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the
prior year comparatives are restated accordingly. Where there has been a change in the accounting policy in the current
financial year, the adjustment is made retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated
accordingly.
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2.

New standards and interpretations

2.1

Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The following standards of GRAP have been issues by the Accounting Standard Board (ASB) but will only be effective in
the future period or have not been given an effective date by the Minister of Finance. The CBDA has not early adopted
any of the standards:
Standard/Interpretation:

Effective date:
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

•

GRAP 34: Separate Financial Statements

April 1, 2099

Material impact unlikely

•

GRAP 35: Consolidated Financial Statements

April 1, 2099

Material impact unlikely

•

GRAP 36: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

April 1, 2099

Material impact unlikely

•

GRAP 37: Joint Arrangements

April 1, 2099

Material impact unlikely

•

GRAP 38: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

April 1, 2099

Material impact unlikely

•

GRAP 110: Living and Non‑living Resources

April 1, 2099

Material impact unlikely

The date of 2099 indicates that the effective date is still to be determined by the Finance Minister.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Other receivables

19

-

Trade receivables

1

2

20

2

3.

Receivables from exchange transactions

Other receivables are made up of recovery of funds from employees in terms of bursary, exceeding cellphone allowance
and outstanding amount towards purchases for assets auctioned.
The exchange receivable for the 2018 financial year is an outstanding amount from CFIs for application and annual
renewal license fees. Effective from 01 April 2018 the function of supervising and regulating CFIs is the responsibility of
the Prudential Authority at the South African Reserve Bank (SARB).

4.

Receivables from non‑exchange transactions

BANKSETA
Receivables
Other receivables

1,542

629

-

2,104

116

361

1,658

3,094

BANKSETA relates to invoice not paid and expenses incurred still to be invoice in terms of signed agreements.
Receivables are outstanding payments from stakeholders for expenses incurred in terms of signed agreements.
Other receivables are made up of refunds/credits due to queries on travel invoices and outstanding expenses incurred
from stakeholder funds still to be invoiced for recovery.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

BANKSETA
Balance at beginning of period
Funds received during the current year
Revenue recognised during the current year

603

(676)

(4,159)

(1,700)

5,118

2,979

2016 prior year error ‑ Revenue recognised duplicated

-

32

Revenue recognised but still outstanding

-

(6)

(20)

-

1,542

629

Expenditure to be recovered from employees

2019
The activities carried out for BANKSETA relates to training interventions, mentorship and coaching with an amount of R1
million still outstanding. BANKSETA also signed an agreement to fund bursaries for employees’ studies.

2018
An amount of R629,000 due from BANKSETA relates to activities conducted and expenses incurred which still needs to
be invoiced to the stakeholder in terms of a new MoU to provide mentorship and coaching to the members of the CFIs,
training and bursary to employees.
The prior year opening balance for BANKSETA grant has been restated with an amount of R216,000.00 due to reversal of
accruals made without any invoice received to date. The error had an impact on the grant expenditure in the prior year.
Refer to note 32.
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5.

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
FNB petty cash account
Bank balances
CPD investment account
FNB current account ‑ CSS
CPD investment account ‑ Stabilisation fund
Bank overdraft

1

2

7,422

1,234

451

420

109

104

1,975

1,838

-

-

9,958

3,598

Cash and cash equivalents consist of six (6) bank accounts, namely four (4) in First National Bank (FNB) and two (2) in
Corporation for Public Deposit (CPD) at the South African Reserve Bank (SARB). New bank accounts were opened with FNB
dedicated towards stakeholder projects so that funds are ring fenced for its intended purpose.
Stabilisation fund is dedicated towards the strategic objective of a financially stable CFI sector. Interest accumulated on
the fund of R137,000 (2018: R130,000) is capitalised.

6.

Property, plant and equipment
2019
COST/
VALUATION

Office equipment

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION
AND
ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

2018
CARRYING
COST/
VALUE VALUATION

ACCUMULATED CARRYING
DEPRECIATION
VALUE
AND
ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

43

(42)

1

43

(41)

2

Computer equipment

644

(497)

147

932

(594)

338

Total

687

(539)

148

975

(635)

340
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2019
Opening balance
Office equipment
Computer equipment

Depreciation

Closing balance

2

(1)

1

338

(191)

147

340

(192)

148

Computer equipment to the value of R288,000 was fully depreciated in the prior year and approval was granted to be
written off in the fixed asset register. The computer equipment fully depreciated to the value of R175,320 was sold at an
auction for an amount of R12,434. Computer equipment for an amount of R121,400 was fully depreciated in the current
year and approval to be written off in the register will be submitted in the new financial year.

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2018
Opening balance

Additions

Depreciation

Closing balance

3

-

(1)

2

312

211

(185)

338

315

211

(186)

340

Office equipment
Computer equipment

7.

Intangible assets
2019

2018

COST/ ACCUMULATED CARRYING
VALUATION AMORTISATION
VALUE
AND
ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

114

COST/ ACCUMULATED CARRYING
VALUATION AMORTISATION
VALUE
AND
ACCUMULATED
IMPAIRMENT

Licences

177

(110)

67

147

(88)

59

Computer software

777

(756)

21

777

(308)

469

Total

954

(866)

88

924

(396)

528
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Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2019
Opening balance

Additions

Depreciation

Impairment loss

Closing
balance

59

93

(85)

-

67

469

-

(232)

(216)

21

528

93

(317)

(216)

88

Licences
Computer software

Licences to the value of R63, 000.00 were fully depreciated in the prior year and approval was granted to be written off in
the fixed asset register.
During the assessment process, the online portal software was impaired with a loss of R216,000 after determining that
the system could not be utilised by other units since it was especially developed to monitor and track the application and
returns submission process carried out by the Supervision unit which function was transferred Prudential Authority. See
note 31.

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2018

Licenses
Computer software

Opening balance

Additions

Amortisation

Closing balance

45

84

(70)

59

728

-

(259)

469

773

84

(329)

528

Licences to the value of R63, 000.00 were fully depreciated and would be written off in the fixed asset register once
approval is granted.
The computer software was restated by R200,000 due to the amortising of the online portal after assessing when the
software was ready for use. Refer to note 32.
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8.

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Payables

Trade payables

271

481

1,093

2,111

219

346

National Treasury

4

1,205

Refund to CFIs for application

4

-

1,591

4,143

Accruals
Accrued leave pay

Trade payables are outstanding amounts due to suppliers, CFIs and salary benefit contributions. Accrual are made for
travel, accommodation and venue cost incurred and invoice not yet received from the suppliers.

9.

Grants

Unspent conditional grants and receipts comprises:
Unspent conditional grants and receipts
KZN Department of Economic Development, Tourism, and Environmental
Affairs (DEDTEA‑ KZN)

-

10

Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR)

1,950

531

Small Enterprise Finance Agency (SEFA)

3,640

-

5,590

541

Movement during the year
Balance at the beginning of the year

541

2,873

5,837

2,374

Funds receivable in the current year

-

2,104

Revenue recognised during the year

(788)

(6,810)

5,590

541

Funds received during the current year
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

5,118

2,979

10

283

778

6,071

-

456

5,906

9,789

Grant recognised in statement of financial performance
BANKSETA
KZN Department of Economic Development, Tourism, and Environmental
Affairs (DEDTEA‑ KZN)
Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR)
Gauteng Department of Economic Development (DED‑GP)

Gauteng Department of Economic Development (DED‑GP)
Balance at beginning of the period

-

456

Revenue recognised during the current year

-

(456)

-

-

2018
KZN Department of Economic Development, Tourism, and Environmental Affairs (DEDTEA)
Funds were fully utilised towards the training and implementation of the IT banking system in the current year.

Balance at beginning of the period
Revenue recognised during the current year

10

293

(10)

(283)

-

10

2019
The remaining balance was utilised in the current year to cover for capacity building activities.

2018
The funds were utilised towards the training and implementation of the IT banking system. The remaining amount would
be fully utilised in the 2018/19 financial year.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

531

2,124

2,197

2,374

-

2,104

(778)

(6,071)

1,950

531

Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR)

Balance at beginning of the period
Funds received during the current year
Funds receivable during the current year
Revenue recognised during the current year

2019
The amended memorandum of understanding was signed on 25 April 2018 for CBDA to provide support services
for the registration of CFIs supported by DRDLR. The expenditure and outstanding amounts relate to the set‑up and
pre‑registration support for the NARYSEC CFI.

2018
Funds were utilised for the establishment and launching of the Mzansi CFI offices as per amended agreement and
implementation and training of the IT banking system. An invoice of R2,104,000 was issued to the DRDLR to provide
services for the registration and set‑up of the NARYSEC CFI.

Small Enterprise Finance Agency (SEFA)

Funds received during the current year

3,640

-

2019
The addendum signed on 14 March 2019 resulted in an amendment whereby an amount of R3,640,000 paid towards the
integration into the NPS and the balance of R1,250,000 outstanding until the conditions have been fulfilled.
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10.

Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions – 2019

Bonus provision

Opening balance

Additions

Utilised during
the year

Closing balance

502

318

(502)

318

Bonus provision is based on employee performance for the period under review and would be paid in the 2019/20
financial year.
Reconciliation of provisions – 2018

Bonus provision

Opening balance

Additions

Utilised during
the year

Closing balance

586

502

(586)

502

Provision for bonus is based on performance of employees and was paid in the 2018/19 financial year.

11. Stabilisation fund reserve
2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Opening balance

1,838

1,708

Interest on capital

137

130

1,975

1,838

The Stabilisation fund was established to protect the deposits of members in CFIs and provide assistance in the form of
grants, loans, liquidity assistance etc. Interest is capitalised to grow the fund since not additional funding is received. The
fund is still insufficient to assist should the sector collapse.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Cash and cash equivalent

9,958

3,598

Add: Receivables

1,685

3,101

Less: Stabilisation funds

(1,975)

(1,838)

Less: Current liabilities

(1,591)

(4,143)

Less: Commitments

(7,775)

(11,405)

Less: Project funds unused

(5,590)

(541)

(5,288)

(11,228)

12. Unused funds to be surrendered to National Treasury

In accordance with section 53(3) of PFMA of 1999, as amended, the unused funds cannot be retained without prior
written approval from the National Treasury. A written letter would be submitted to the National Treasury indicating the
commitment of available funds as indicated above.

13. Revenue
Interest received
Services rendered
Other income (Exchange transaction)
Transfers

529

807

2

13

13

1

19,883

19,275

Service in kind

6,502

7,104

Grants

5,906

9,789

-

600

32,835

37,589

529

807

2

13

13

1

544

821

Other income (Non‑exchange transactions)

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of
goods or services are as follows:
Interest received
Services rendered
Other income

Interest is received from bank accounts in FNB and the CPD. Current interest rate as at 31 March 2019 for FNB 5.25% and
CPD is 7%.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

Services rendered relates to application and registration fee for representative bodies.
Other income received relates to sale and/or cost recovery of assets.
The amount included in revenue arising from non‑exchange transactions is as follows:
Transfer revenue
Transfers

19,883

19,275

Services in kind

6,502

7,104

Grants

5,906

9,789

-

600

32,291

36,768

Other income

Transfers are funds received from the National Treasury as per allocation for the 2018/19 financial year.
Grants includes funds received from stakeholders and recognised in the statement of financial performance once
expenditure has been incurred.
The National Treasury provides service in kind in the form of office space, parking, municipality cost, office furniture and
provide services towards internal audit, enterprise risk management, legal, supply chain management, finance, IT and
communication.

14. Employee related costs
Basic
Bonus
UIF
Leave pay provision charge

11,591

16,611

318

502

37

50

(120)

(13)

Funeral policy

10

9

Group life benefit

10

-

Acting allowances
Unpaid leave
Leave paid out

68

31

(17)

(24)

26

-

11,923

17,166
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

34

22

979

1,011

21

25

Consulting and professional fees

5,401

6,439

Hosting fees

2,380

2,070

15. Goods and services
Advertising
Auditors’ remuneration
Bank charges

Branding and promotions

-

902

71

99

Software expenses

7

-

Staff welfare

1

5

Subscription and membership fees

-

4

37

50

Printing and stationery

Communication costs
Training and development
Travel and subsistence
Office furniture, mobile offices and renovations

86

334

4,639

6,505

305

1,677

Catering

22

14

Board fees

92

193

Rental and facilities

2,749

2,540

Venue and facilities

1,328

1,590

18,152

23,480

Grant expenditure for the amount of R 5,905,000 relating to capacity building training initiatives has been expensed
according to the economic classification.
In kind services from the National Treasury is classified under consulting, office furniture, mobile offices and renovation
and rental and facilities.

16. Auditors’ remuneration
Fees
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

1,998

(3,608)

Depreciation and amortisation

509

515

Impairment deficit

216

-

(184)

(84)

(18)

(2)

1,436

(1,681)

(1)

-

(2,552)

1,995

5,049

(3,008)

6,453

(5,873)

17. Cash generated from/ (used in) operations
Surplus/(deficit)

Adjustments for:

Movements in provisions

Changes in working capital:
Receivables from exchange transactions
Receivables from non‑exchange transactions
Prepayments
Payables
Grants
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18. Financial instruments disclosure
Categories of financial instruments

2019
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions
Other receivables from non‑exchange transactions
Prepayment
Cash and cash equivalents

At fair value

Total

20

20

1,658

1,658

8

8

9,958

9,958

11,644

11,644

At fair value

Total

1,591

1,591

At fair value

Total

2

2

3,094

3,094

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

2018
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions
Other receivables from non‑exchange transactions
Prepayment
Cash and cash equivalents

7

7

3,598

3,598

6,701

6,701

At fair value

Total

4,143

4,143

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
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19. Financial risk management
Liquidity risk
The CBDA’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The CBDA manages liquidity risk
through proper management of working capital and actual vs projection. Cash flow forecasts are prepared to maintain
sufficient cash and reserves. The CBDA is only exposed to liquidity risk with regard to payment of its payables. These
payables are all due within the short term.

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and receivables from exchange transactions. The CBDA only
deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter‑party. Investment
exposure is managed by depositing funds in the CPD account in terms of Treasury Regulations.
Receivables from exchange transactions are exposed to low credit risk. The factors that determine impairment of overdue
amount relates to the size of the entity, financial sustainability and impact of cost recovery vs cost incurred. No credit limits
were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any surplus from non‑performance by
these counterparties.

Market Risk
Interest rate risk
The CBDA has no significant interest‑bearing assets. The CBDA’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
The CBDA is exposed to interest rate changes in respect of returns on its cash and investment with financial institutions
and CPD. The interest risk exposure is managed by investing in the CPD.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

20. Commitments
Approved and signed contracts
Already contracted for but not provided for

•

Write Connection CC

153

267

•

DB Fusion

455

22

•

EOH Mthombo (Pty) Ltd

7,167

10,129

•

Petrolbom Business Solutions

-

351

•

Clear Cut Solution

-

444

•

SA CFI Consultancy (COFISA)

-

161

•

Mzansi Leadership Development

-

31

7,775

11,405

1,229

-

Not yet contracted for and authorised by members
•

Absa Bank Limited

Commitments are signed binding agreements between CBDA and service providers. Commitments are not recognised in
the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement of financial performance until services
are rendered or goods are received.

Operating leases
Minimum lease payments due
‑ within one year
‑ later than five years

24

36

-

24

Operating lease payments represent lease payable by the entity for office equipment. Leases are negotiated for an average
term of three years.
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21. Related parties
Relationships
National Treasury

Executive Authority

BANKSETA

Public entity in National sphere

Department of Rural Development and Land Reform

National Department in National sphere

Small Enterprise Finance Agency (SEFA)

Subsidiary of Industrial Development Corporation of
South Africa (IDC)

The CBDA is a schedule 3A National Public entity in terms of the PFMA and therefore falls within the national sphere of
government. Unless specifically disclosed, these transactions are concluded at arm’s length basis. There are no restrictions
in the CBDA’s capacity to transact with any entity.

Related Party Balances
Amounts included in trade receivables

BANKSETA
Department of Rural Development and Land Reform

2019

2018

R’000

R’000

1,000

26

-

2,104

1,000

2,130

5,118

2,979

778

607

5,896

3,586

Related Party Transactions
Services rendered
BANKSETA
Department of Rural Development and Land Reform

127

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2019
BANKSETA outstanding balance and services relates to training intervention mentorship, coaching and bursary for CBDA
employees.
The services provided to DRDLR was to support the NARYSEC CFI project.

2018
BANKSETA outstanding balance relates to bursary and services rendered entailed mentorship and training to CFIs.
DRDLR outstanding balance relates to the launch of the Mzansi CFI offices and services provided for the registration of
NARYSEC CFI.
Key management information
Executive management remuneration

2019
Basic salary

Acting allowance

Leave pay

Total

117

-

10

127

2,208

68

-

2,276

2,325

68

10

2,403

Basic salary

Long service
benefit

Total

Managing Director

1,310

11

1,321

Senior Management

3,265

-

3,265

4,575

11

4,586

Name
Managing Director
Senior Management

2018

Name
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22. Related party – accounting authority
Board emoluments
2019
Committee
fees

Travel

Total

Dr N Ngwenga

39

3

42

Mr V Pangwa

22

-

22

Mr L Ntuane

26

2

28

* Mr J Ndumo

-

-

-

** Mr D Golding

-

-

-

* Ms N Shwala

-

-

-

***** Ms G Raine

-

-

-

* Ms M Mosing

-

-

-

* Ms R de Vos

-

-

-

* Ms P Ncapayi

-

-

-

*** Ms O Matshane

-

-

-

**** Ms N Sauli

-

-

-

87

5

92

* Government official serving on Boards or committees of public entities or institutions are not entitled to additional remuneration without approval from
their respective institutions.
** Mr Golding is the chairperson of the Board who is currently on special leave.
*** Ms O Matshane resigned from her position as Managing Director and joined the National Treasury. She replaces Mr R Havemann who was
the Ministerial Representative.
**** Ms N Sauli has been appointed as Acting Managing Director from 01 May 2018.
*****Ms G Raine resigned as a board member effective 28 July 2018.
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2018
Members’ fees

Committees
fees

Total

14

47

61

Mr D Ginsburg

-

45

45

Mr D Golding

1

25

26

Ms V Matsiliza

-

-

-

* Mr J Ndumo

-

-

-

* Ms N Shwala

-

-

-

Ms G Raine

-

14

14

Ms P Masemola

1

46

47

* Ms R de Vos

-

-

-

* Ms O Matshane

-

-

-

* Mr R Havemann

-

-

-

* Ms P Ncapayi

-

-

-

16

177

193

Adv LT Nevondwe

Ms O Matshane was the Managing Director of the CBDA until 30 April 2018.
Mr R Havemann was the Ministerial Representative.
Ms P Masemola, Mr D Ginsburg, Ms V Matsiliza and Adv LT Nevondwe’s term ended on 31 March 2018.
Mr D Golding, Mr J Ndumo and Ms G Raine’s were re‑appointed by the Minister.
* Government official serving on Boards or committees of public entities or institutions are not entitled to additional remuneration without approval from their
respective institutions.

23. Going concern
We draw attention to the fact that at March 31, 2019, the CBDA had an accumulated surplus of R1,998,000 and that the
CBDA’s ‘s total assets exceed its liabilities by R 4,381,000.
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement
of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
The ability of the CBDA to continue as a going concern is dependent on sourcing funding for the ongoing operations
for the Central Support Services unit and there is no indication from the Executive Authority that the approved transfer
allocation over the MTEF period will be stopped.
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24. Events after the reporting date
A dismissal case was lodged by an employee with the Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) for
non-renewal of contract due to an expectation created. The case sat on 23 April 2019 with the Commissioner awarding a
monetary settlement for the amount of R67,809 to be paid by 25 May 2019.

25. Contingent liabilities
Management is not aware of any litigation or claim made against the entity that would involve financial implications in
the future financial years.

26. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expense, assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the
reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. There were no items that
required management’s judgement in the process of applying the CBDA accounting policies.

Estimates and assumptions.
There were not key assumptions concerning the future and other key source of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities with
the next financial year.
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

92

91

27. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Opening balance
Add: Irregular expenditure ‑ current year

-

1

92

92

Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings

2019
Interest charged on late payment of invoices

Refunded by responsible employee.

2018
3G services not transferred to new service provider resulting None ‑ Internal investigation was concluded revealing that no
in cost being incurred for services not utilised.
employee could be held responsible.

1

The CBDA continues to monitor these occurrences and where applicable, controls are in place to assist the entity to
recover these amounts.
The prior year fruitless and wasteful expenditure would be written off once approval would be granted in terms of CBDA
delegation of authority.

28. Irregular expenditure
Opening balance

5,459

2,677

Add: Irregular expenditure ‑ current year

1,883

2,782

7,342

5,459

Current year

-

1,633

Prior years

-

1,677

-

3,310

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation
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The CBDA has implemented controls to ensure that all supply chain requirements are complied with. The irregular
expenditure has not resulted in any financial loss. Irregular expenditure amount was restated for an amount of R6,000
which was discovered during the financial year relating to the 2018 and 2017 financial period which was not previously
disclosed.
A submission was issued to the National Treasury which was not condoned for irregular expenditure incurred in the 2016/17
and 2017/18 financial year for an amount of R1,677,000 and R1,633,000, respectively. An independent investigation was
concluded during the financial year by the National Treasury Internal Audit unit. The report was presented to management
who is currently in the process of implementing the recommendations in terms of consequence management.

Details of irregular expenditure – 2019
Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings
Procurement and contract management
Services were reduced to be less than R500,000
to avoid tender process.

Management in the progress of implementing
recommendation from the National Treasury Internal
Audit report.

Deviation from SCM process for the additional
services without ensuring the process was fair,
transparent, cost effective and equitable.

112

320

Services rendered with no extension of contract
to service provider.

To be investigated by internal audit.

704

Extension of agreement approved after the
contract expired.

To be investigated by internal audit.

743

Rate of service provider increase from contract
amount without approval.

To be investigated by internal audit.

4

1,883
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Details of irregular expenditure ‑ 2018
Disciplinary steps taken/criminal
proceedings
Procurement and contract management
The preferential point system for pricing was not
documented when appointing the successful
bidder.

Management in the progress of implementing
recommendation from the National Treasury
Internal Audit report.

Services were reduced to be less than R500,000
to avoid tender process.

1,203

196

Deviation from SCM process for the additional
services without ensuring the process was fair,
transparent, cost effective and equitable.

Management in the progress of implementing
recommendation from the National Treasury
Internal Audit report.

894

Non‑compliance with SCM instruction note: 7
on foreign tax compliance status.

To be investigated by internal audit.

483

Rate of service provider increase from contract
amount without approval.

To be investigated by internal audit.

6

2,782
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2019

2018

R’000

R’000

29. Prepayments
Prepaid expense

8

7

37

36

Prepayment is for annual license fees paid for the payroll system for use from 01 April 2019.

30. Lease rentals on operating lease
Lease rental on operating lease
Contractual amounts

The lease agreement is for the use of a photocopy machine which was concluded on 1December 2016. The rental
agreement is for a period of 36 months ending 30 November 2019 with fixed rental payment of three years. In the event
of the 24 months extension period, the rental amount will be reduced by 75 cents per copy with the same terms and
conditions.

31. Impairment of loss
Impairment of assets
Intangible assets

216

-
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The online portal system was developed for the use of the Supervision unit to streamline the process of application and
return submission to make the process more efficient for CFIs. The unit was transferred to the Prudential Authority on 01
April 2018. The circumstances that led to the recognition of the impairment loss is due to:
•
•
•
•

the system could not be transferred due to the Prudential Authority taking a decision to procure an inclusive system
relating to their four mandates rather than a system just for the CFIs;
the system cannot be used by other units in its current form since it is a tracking/monitoring of applications of CFIs;
the system would need to be modified if the other units want to utilise it which would result in cost implication.
CBDA does not have a budget for this modification;
the system cannot be sold due to it being specifically designed for the function of supervising and regulating the
CFI sector which is solely mandated by the Prudential Authority.

32. Prior period errors
Accrual for the 2016 and 2017 financial year was reversed due to realising that the obligation is no longer valid. The prior
period errors have been corrected retrospectively. Due to the error occurring in the 2016 and 2017 financial years, the
opening balance of assets, liabilities and net assets was restated in the 2018 financial year. The correction of the error had
an impact on grant revenue, grant expenditure, goods and services and surplus/(deficit).
The 2017 financial year amounts were corrected as per below disclosure so that the 2018 financial year amounts can be
restated.
Statement of financial performance
Revenue – Grants

2017 Restated

Difference

14,223

13,822

401

(14,223)

(13,822)

(401)

(1,252)

(927)

(325)

1,594

1,919

325

342

992

-

Statement of financial position

2017

2017 Restated

Difference

Good and services – Grant
Good and services
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

136

2017

Payables

(2,501)

(1,775)

(726)

Grants

(3,148)

(3,549)

401

Accumulated surplus

(3,958)

(4,283)

325

(9,607)

(9,607)

-

Co-operative Banks Development Agency Annual Report 2018/19 Financial Year

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2018
The online portal software was amortised from 01 April 2017 due to the software being ready for use although there was
difficulty migrating it on to the National Treasury network. From 01 April 2018, with the transfer of the Supervision unit to
the Prudential Authority, management had to determine if the system can still be utilised. See note 30. The depreciation,
and accumulated deficit by the amount of R200,000 was restated for the 2018 financial statement. The correction in the
prior financial year resulted in the restated amount for depreciation which had an effect on accumulated deficit and
accumulated depreciation of computer software for the amount of R200,000.
Service in kind received by the National Treasury for providing services of internal audit, enterprise risk management,
legal, supply chain management, finance and communication was not estimated resulting in the correction for the 2018
financial year. The correction resulted in the restated amounts for service in kind under revenue from non‑exchange
transactions and goods and services for the amount if R4,563,000 as indicated below.
Statement of financial performance

As previously
reported

Correction of
error

Restated
amount

315

200

515

Deficit

(3,408)

(200)

(3,608)

Service in kind

(2,461)

(4,643)

(7,104)

Goods and services

18,837

4,643

23,480

13,283

-

13,283

Depreciation

The impact of the correction of prior year accrual and amortisation on computer software was restated as disclosed below.
Statement of financial position
Revenue from non‑exchange transactions
Payables
Grants
Intangible assets
Accumulated surplus

AS
PREVIOUSLY
REPORTED

CORRECTION
OF ERROR

RESTATED
AMOUNT

3,317

(216)

3,101

(4,869)

726

(4,143)

(356)

(185)

(541)

728

(200)

528

(420)

(125)

(545)

(1,600)

-

(1,600)
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